
 
   

 

      

     

      

 

 

 

     

    
    
   
   
   
   
    

             

 

             

        

              

 

             

    

           

 

              

 

  

              

       

              

  

  

 

   
   
   

Regular Council Meeting 
November 15, 2022 – 6:00 p.m. 

Council Chambers 

A. Call to Order Johnny Gardner, Chairman 

B. Invocation Mr. Howard 

C. Pledge of Allegiance Mr. Loftus 

D. Public Input (Sign-up Required) 

E. Approval of Agenda Contents 

F. Approval of Minutes: Regular Meeting, November 1, 2022 

G. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Third Reading on the following Ordinances to approve the request to amend the official zoning map: 

Ord 119-2022 Andrew Glover, agent for Mariam Miles (Mr. Loftus) 
Ord 120-2022 Diamond Shores, agent for Inshore Holdings LLC (Mr. Loftus) 
Ord 121-2022 Jacob Dooley, agent for Raptis Co LLC (Mr. Crawford) 
Ord 122-2022 G3 Engineering, agent for Kathy Kelley & Rhonda Ellis (Mr. Causey) 
Ord 123-2022 G3 Engineering, agent for Beach Flowers & BTW Holdings (Mr. Causey) 
Ord 124-2022 Diamond Shores, agent for Dennis Coats & Blenda Harris (Mr. Causey) 
Ord 125-2022 Diamond Shores, agent for Scope Holdings LLC (Mr. Hardee) 

2. Third Reading – Ordinance 126-2022 approving & authorizing the county administrator to execute a lease agreement with 

Leadership in Flight Training Academy for property located at MYR. (Favorable, I&R Comm) 

3. Third Reading – Ordinance 127-2022 to amend the Land Development Regulations of the Horry County Code. (Favorable, I&R 

Comm) 

4. Third Reading – Ordinance 128-2022 to amend the Horry County Zoning Ordinance pertaining to criteria for the designation of 

historic trees. (Favorable, I&R Comm) 

5. Third Reading – Ordinance 129-2022 to approve the Coates Road Agreement with Handfield LLC for approximately 1700 linear 

feet of road improvements located on Coates Road off SC Hwy 90.  (Mr. Jordan) 

6. Third Reading – Ordinance 130-2022 to approve the Long Bay Road Agreement with Beazer Homes LLC for approximately 

6120 linear feet of road improvements located on Long Bay Road off SC Hwy 90. (Mr. Jordan) 

7. First Reading – Ordinance 133-2022 to approve the request of Thomas & Hutton, agent for Archie Howell, Jr. et al, to amend 

the official zoning maps. (Mr. Loftus) 

8. Community Benefit Fund Resolution 35-2022 allocating $9,000 to the Horry County Police Department for the Shop With A 

Cop Christmas program. (Not reviewed by Administration Comm) 

H. PRESENTATIONS / RESOLUTIONS 

9. Resolution R-132-2022 to approve the application to the SC Opioid Recovery Fund Board for the guaranteed political 

subdivision subfund and authorize and appropriate opioid settlement funds for FY 2023. (Mr. Spivey) 

10. Resolution R-133-2022 to express County Council’s desire to increase local vendor participation in Horry County purchases, 
bids, requests for qualifications, and requests for proposals. (Mr. Spivey) 

I. READING OF ORDINANCES 

11. Second Reading – Ordinance 131-2022 to authorize and approve the execution and delivery of a Fee Agreement between 

Horry County, South Carolina and a company identified for the time being as Project Free; providing for the payment of a Fee-

In-Lieu of Taxes; and to provide for other matters related thereto. (Favorable, Administration Comm) 

12. First Reading on the following Ordinances to approve the request to amend the official zoning maps: (Planning Commission 

recommends disapproval on each Ordinance) 

Ord 134-2022 Henry Merino et al (Mr. Loftus) 
Ord 135-2022 Venture Engineering, agent for Dervon Dennis et al (Mr. Crawford) 
Ord 136-2022 Deerslayer LLC (Mr. Hardee) 



   

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 

J. MEMORIAL DEDICATIONS: 

K. UPCOMING MEETINGS – Dates/times subject to change: 

Council Meetings I&R Committee Public Safety Committee Administration Committee Fall Planning Retreat 
Dec 13, 6pm Nov 16, 9am Nov 16, 2pm Nov 28, 2pm Dec 8, all day 

L. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

M. ADJOURN 



 

 
  

  
 

  
 

            
      

  

          
  

     
 

 

     

    

  

      
         

          
         

             
              

              
          

            
       

               
               

          
       

             
          

           
            

          
               

               
         

               
       

          
         

  

            
            

                  
                

MINUTES 
HORRY COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 
County Council Chambers 

November 1, 2022 
6:00 p.m. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Johnny Gardner, Chairman; Harold Worley; Gary Loftus; Bill Howard; Danny Hardee; 
Mark Causey; Johnny Vaught; Al Allen; Cam Crawford; Orton Bellamy; Tyler Servant; and Dennis DiSabato. 

MEMBERS ABSENT: 

OTHERS PRESENT: Steve Gosnell; Arrigo Carotti; Randy Webster; Barry Spivey; David Gilreath; David Jordan; 
Gail Bratcher; and Mikayla Moskov. 

In accordance with the FOIA, notices of the meeting were provided to the press stating the time, date, and place 
of the meeting. 

CALL TO ORDER:  Chairman Gardner called the meeting to order at approximately 6:00 p.m. 

INVOCATION: Mr. Worley gave the invocation. 

PLEDGE: Mr. Servant led in the pledge. 

PUBLIC INPUT: 

Ms. April O’Leary with Horry County Rising spoke regarding science-based decision making with respect to flood 
risk. Corruption was nothing but a sign of selfish people who live there and the majority. Yet, evidence based 
decision making was a strategic and deliberate method of implying empirical knowledge and research supported 
data to policies within the justice system made at the case agency or system level. A great example of evidence 
based decision making was when the county hired a consultant with taxpayer’s money to design the supplemental 
flood zone. The fields of research focus was on the historical high water levels mapped by the USGS, elevation 
data, flood damages, and the new regulations imposed were based on this new knowledge. This type of decision 
science was uniquely concerned with making optimal choices based on the best available information at the time. 
Evidence based decision making was key when objective facts are used to determine the correct decision to make 
and ensures that you were not writing laws to make your friends happy. Humans are terrible decision makers, 
especially in the heat of the moment, and when tensions are high such as the threat of a suit or when one’s political 
ambitions are on the line. County Council Members were only human too and they had the same weaknesses as 
anybody else when it came to decision making. This was why evidence based decisions and due process was 
vital. The county convened a flood sub-committee and developed various guidelines to prevent catastrophic flood 
damages. To their knowledge no new data or information had been provided to Council to even consider other 
conclusions outside of that flood sub-committee or decisions with respect to how they build in the flood zone in 
Horry County. No two people see the world the same way. On one side you had families like her who had flooded 
and were trying to protect new families and homeowners from going through the same grief and financial loss that 
they went through.  On the other side you had developers complaining about the purchase price of a home being 
too high, esthetics of a neighborhood, or even reminding Council about the promises they made to a good friend. 
This was why it was so important to make decisions based on using methods and tools. Then you debate that 
data openly and transparently and while doing so you are being clear about both your implicit and your explicit 
biases. It gave them all common context to work from. Making changes to their building standards in Horry 
County’s high risk flood zones to appease a for profit developer’s request versus evidence based data gives the 
impression of corruption and this would lead to public mistrust and discontent. She was humbly requesting for 
them to consider how much they value the public’s trust before they consider changing flood policy in Horry 
County. 

Ms. Pat Milley spoke regarding clear-cutting trees. She wanted to share an idea with them. Her understanding 
as to why they were clear-cutting Horry County was because a tree farmer had the right to sell his crop. They 
knew he was going to sell it and it was going to be clear-cut. Her idea was that in order to save these trees and 
protect us from hurricanes because for hundreds of years they had sat in Horry County under the trees and the 

1 



 

           
        
               

            
      

     
            

               
          

           
             

           
    

          
              

            
           

            
           

          
        

          
                 

                
          

           
            

          
    

              
          

             
 

 

         
   

            
         

    

        

          

         

             

             

    

             
     

  

             

      

 

trees had broken the winds of the hurricanes. They hadn’t been blown away like Fort Myers or when Hurricane 
Andrew came through Florida. If you looked at where Hurricane Hugo came in at McClellanville those houses 
were still sitting under those trees. Her idea was when a tree farmer goes to sell his crop the county would buy 
20 feet of trees completely surrounding the tract and pay for it with taxpayer money because taxpayers were the 
ones who were profiting from it.  They needed these trees preserved.  They needed wind breaks, clean air, flood 
control, and wildlife habitats.  All children deserve a woods to play in.  These developments with no woods would 
be healthier if they had a woods for children to play in. Her idea for them was to start making a law that when a 
tree farmer sold a tree farm and his crop, the county would buy 20 feet of trees all the way around that tree farm 
and put it in a tax free area fund or whatever status so that it would never be up for tax sale. It was her thought 
that it would profit all of Horry County, everybody in it, if they started purchasing 20 feet of trees. She heard that 
in England they had these tree breaks around all their fields. They needed to look at how other countries had 
solved their problems and solve theirs. They needed 20 feet of space around every woods sold and that would 
help everybody in the county. 

Mr. Martin Wheeler, president of the Carolina’s Association of Passenger Trains, spoke regarding Conway to 
Myrtle Beach rail line. The association’s mission was to promote the improvement and expansion of rail passenger 
service in the Carolinas, both North and South Carolina. They had been around for 40 years incorporated as a 
non-profit in South Carolina in the 1990s and had been working on many present and past rail initiatives in the 
states. He had provided them with some printed materials to look at and he thanked them for the opportunity to 
tell them about what they were talking about. It was a plan designed to improve transportation, economic 
development, travel and tourism, emergency preparedness as well as the environment. Their multi-county plan 
would link Myrtle Beach to Florence, South Carolina. He then laid out how the line would run. They had been 
working on the plan for a while and had had some discussion with Marion County’s engineering department and 
would be talking with RJ Corman more. They would be going around the entire region since this was a multi-
county effort they were talking about. Their only concern at this point was there had been a lot of talk about rail 
trails. Those were great things but there had been a problem with this legislation that was created back in the 
1980s, the Federal Rail Trails Legislation. It was originally designed to save the rail corridors for reactivation of 
rail service and they would have an interim use in the meantime. If it never needed it again that was fine but what 
if it did need to be reactivated.  They had had some instances around the country where people had lawsuits and 
had been able to stop the reactivation of those rail lines which provide economic development and transportation 
of passengers in those areas. That was one of the things they were especially concerned about. He knew they 
had interest in the rail line and its operations. He hoped they would take that very seriously into consideration 
because from their point of view they don’t want to close any doors in the future. If those doors were closed it 
might not be able to reopen.  

Public input was closed. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA CONTENTS: Mr. DiSabato moved to approve the agenda contents, seconded 
by Mr. Allen. The motion was unanimously passed. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Regular Meeting, October 18, 2022: Mr. DiSabato moved to approve the minutes 
of the Regular Meeting, October 18, 2022, meeting minutes, seconded by Mr. Servant. The motion was 
unanimously passed. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: The receipt of legal advice relating to a pending, threatened, or potential claim, or other 

matters covered by the attorney-client privilege. Mr. Worley moved to enter into executive session, seconded 

by Mr. Vaught. The motion was unanimously passed. Mr. Vaught moved to exit executive session, 

seconded by Mr. DiSabato. The motion was unanimously passed. Mr. Carotti stated while in executive 

session Council received legal advice relating to a pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered 

by the attorney-client privilege.  While in executive session no decisions were made and no votes were taken. 

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA: Mr. Allen moved to approve the agenda contents, seconded by Mr. 
Howard. The motion was unanimously passed.  The consent agenda consisted of the following: 

Items relating to Project Free: 

First Reading – Ordinance 131-2022 to authorize and approve the execution and delivery of a Fee Agreement 

between Horry County, South Carolina and a company identified for the time being as Project Free; providing for 

the payment of a Fee-In-Lieu of Taxes; and to provide for other matters related thereto. 

2 



 

 

 
      

            

             

   

 
    

   

           
  

      
 

   

  

   
 

            

          

             

              

        

                

        

     

           

                

         

    

            

 

 

             

       

     

 

              

            

   

 
             

        
        

          
  

 
    
    
    
   
    
    
   
 

 
 
 

Resolution R-130-2022 to state the commitment of Horry County to enter into a fee agreement with Project Free; 

to provide the general terms of the fee agreement; to provide that this resolution is an inducement resolution for 

purposes of the fee in lieu of tax simplification act; and to state the commitment of Horry County to place Project 

Free property in a multi-county park. 

Resolution R-131-2022 recognizing the month of November as Family Court Awareness Month. 

Allocations of Community Benefit Funds: 

CBF32-2022 $3,000 to Blue Star Mothers of Coastal Carolina – purchase of postage to ship Hero Boxes to 
military personnel deployed outside the U.S. (Messrs. DiSabato/Crawford/Bellamy/Vaught)  
CBF33-2022 $2,500 to Kitty Claws Rescue for trap/neuter/release program. (Mr. Worley) 

Approval of Year 2023 Council Meeting Dates. 

PRESENTATIONS / RESOLUTIONS: 

Recognition of the Horry County Animal Care Center by the Best Friends Animal Society. Mr. Webster 

stated that their Animal Care Center was recognized by Best Friends. They had had to maneuver this around 

several times and it didn’t work out for a representative from Best Friends Animal Society to be in attendance that 

night. He would ask Captain Wyatt to explain what was going on and bring his staff up so Council could 

understand and appreciate what they had been recognized for and how good the Animal Care Center was.  

Captain Wyatt stated the Best Friends Animal Society was a national organization that helped rate animal shelters 

and non-profits throughout the country.  They gather information from over 4,000 animal welfare agencies across 

our nation.  They had been fortunate to have an amazing group of leaders at the shelter.  They had been ranked 

9th in the nation for most improved lifesaving gap. They had saved over 1,000 more animals this year than they 

did the previous year. They were among the top 41 in their save rate currently. They were continuing to move 

forward and would continue to strive to make sure that their shelter was top notch in the state and across the 

country.  They could not do it without the amazing staff standing behind him.  He appreciated their time and Best 

Friends truly thanked the animal shelter and Council for their support in letting them do what they needed to do to 

help save these animals.  

Mr. Crawford told Captain Wyatt that he had worked with him on this issue and he appreciated all his hard work. 

He really was a credit to the department and he thanked him for helping to make those monumental changes at 

the facility.  He had done a great job and he was very proud of his efforts.  

Mr. Allen stated he had stood up for them in the past and they had really worked through a lot. They had really 

brought this to the forefront and there was no better team than what they currently had in place. They did an 

outstanding job from the top all the way down and he thanked them. 

Resolution R-129-2022 authorizing the transfer of funds under the Horry County Hospitality Project Plan for Little 
River Waterfront to the Rural Civic/Equestrian Center. Mr. Worley moved to approve, seconded by Mr. Allen.  
Mr. DiSabato moved to defer until January 1st giving the Councilwoman elect, Jenna Dukes, an opportunity 
to speak on the issue, seconded by Mr. Howard. There was a discussion as to which motion to take up first.  
A vote was held on the motion to defer. 

Yea Nay 
Servant Worley 
Loftus Gardner 
DiSabato Allen 
Howard Hardee 
Bellamy Causey 
Crawford Vaught 

The motion to defer failed six to six. 

3 



 

  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 
 

 

   

         

 

             
  

          
 

             
 

           
 

             
 

          
 

   
 

       

           

          

        

          

 

           

      

  

        

           

      

 

A vote was held on the original motion. 

Yea Nay 
Worley Servant 
Gardner Loftus 
Allen DiSabato 
Hardee Howard 
Causey Crawford 
Vaught 
Bellamy 

The original motion passed seven to five. 

READING OF ORDINANCES: 

Second Reading and Public Hearing on the following Ordinances to approve the request to amend the official 

zoning map: 

Ord 119-2022 Andrew Glover, agent for Mariam Miles. Mr. Loftus moved to approve, seconded by Mr. 
Vaught. There was no public input.  The motion passed unanimously. 

Ord 120-2022 Diamond Shores, agent for Inshore Holdings LLC. Mr. Loftus moved to approve, seconded by 
Mr. Vaught.  There was no public input.  The motion passed unanimously. 

Ord 121-2022 Jacob Dooley, agent for Raptis Co LLC. Mr. Crawford moved to approve, seconded by Mr. 
Howard.  There was no public input.  The motion passed unanimously. 

Ord 122-2022 G3 Engineering, agent for Kathy Kelley & Rhonda Ellis. Mr. Causey moved to approve, 
seconded by Mr. Vaught.  There was no public input.  The motion passed unanimously. 

Ord 123-2022 G3 Engineering, agent for Beach Flowers & BTW Holdings. Mr. Causey moved to approve, 
seconded by Mr. Howard.  There was no public input.  The motion passed unanimously. 

Ord 124-2022 Diamond Shores, agent for Dennis Coats & Blenda Harris. Mr. Causey moved to approve, 
seconded by Mr. Howard.  There was no public input.  The motion passed unanimously. 

Ord 125-2022 Diamond Shores, agent for Scope Holdings LLC. Mr. Hardee moved to approve, seconded by 
Mr. Vaught.  There was no public input.  The motion was unanimously passed.  

Second Reading and Public Hearing – Ordinance 126-2022 approving & authorizing the county administrator to 

execute a lease agreement with Leadership in Flight Training Academy for property located at MYR. Mr. Howard 

moved to approve, seconded by Mr. Vaught. There was no public input. The motion passed unanimously. 

Second Reading and Public Hearing – Ordinance 127-2022 to amend the Land Development Regulations of the 

Horry County Code. Mr. Allen moved to approve, seconded by Mr. Howard. There was no public input.  

The motion passed unanimously. 

Second Reading and Public Hearing – Ordinance 128-2022 to amend the Horry County Zoning Ordinance 

pertaining to criteria for the designation of historic trees. Mr. Vaught moved to approve, seconded by Mr. 

Servant.  There was no public input.  The motion passed unanimously. 

Second Reading and Public Hearing – Ordinance 129-2022 to approve the Coates Road Agreement with 

Handfield LLC for approximately 1700 linear feet of road improvements located on Coates Road off SC Hwy 90. 

Mr. Vaught moved to approve, seconded by Mr. Howard.  There was no public input. The motion passed 

unanimously. 

4 



 

        

       

            

 

        

           

       

         

           

  

  

          

                 

             

 

     

  

          

 

             

 

               
            

 

         
           
           

                 
        

       
       
       

    

  
   

          
           

                
         

    

        
         

             
              

Second Reading and Public Hearing – Ordinance 130-2022 to approve the Long Bay Road Agreement with 

Beazer Homes LLC for approximately 6120 linear feet of road improvements located on Long Bay Road off SC 

Hwy 90. Mr. Howard moved to approve, seconded by Mr. Vaught. There was no public input. The motion 

passed unanimously. 

First Reading – Ordinance 132-2022 amending portions of Chapter 9 (Flood Damage Prevention and Control) of 

the Horry County Code of Ordinances. Mr. Vaught moved to approve, seconded by Mr. DiSabato. Mr. Causey 

stated he would vote in support of this that night just to get further information for their next meeting. Chairman 

Gardner stated that was a good point. This was the first reading and traditionally Council had three readings. The 

first reading was normally just by title. Second reading was normally public input and Council would debate, 

sometimes vigorously.  If it passed second reading it would move forward. A vote was held. 

Yea Nay 

Gardner Causey Servant Howard 

Allen Vaught Loftus Worley 

Hardee Bellamy DiSabato Crawford 

The motion failed six to six. 

MEMORIAL DEDICATION: Lois Martin; Edna Clark; Beth Clark; Lucille Horne; David Odell Stalvey, III; Whitney 

Martin; Rev. Jesse Eugene Gardner; and Capt. Archie McLauchlin. 

Mr. Worley asked that Mr. Carotti explain reconsideration of the flood ordinance at their next meeting prior to the 

minutes.  

Chairman Gardner stated that he wanted to finish the memorial dedications and then Mr. DiSabato had something 

quick to ask about.  He would then go back to him.  

UPCOMING MEETINGS: Council meetings – Nov 15, 6:00 p.m.; I & R Committee – Nov 16, 9 a.m.; Public Safety 
Committee – Nov 16, 2 p.m.; Administration Committee – Nov 28, 2 p.m.; and Fall Planning Retreat – Dec. 8 – 
All Day. 

Mr. DiSabato said he would like to at least start advancing the conversation about a particular issue that he had 
a lot of calls on in the last couple of weeks. He thought it was mainly because he had done some real estate 
closings for people that bought condos in the Renaissance Tower but he had had a lot of people reaching out to 
him recently to see if there was something they could do at the county level to give them some tax relief during 
the period of time where they were not able to use and occupy that property. He had had some preliminary 
conversation about it with the assessor, Larry Roscoe, but he thought it was something that they needed to 
consider doing to help those people who had been displaced from their homes especially. He was not necessarily 
speaking about the people who were using that as an investment property but there were a fair amount of people 
who were living in that condominium as well. He thought they needed to start discussing that as a Council.  

Chairman Gardner stated that he thought they did have something on the books for residents for fires and things 
of that nature so they could ask staff to look into that. 

Mr. DiSabato stated he thought there was another issue and he would urge staff to maybe reach out to the school 
board staff because he thought they would need some approval from them based on his conversations with Mr. 
Roscoe to see if they would partner with the county in helping to give relief to some of those people as well. If 
they could start advancing that conversation so they could start moving it forward. He had 5 – 7 phone calls in 
the last two weeks from people concerned about this particular issue.  

Mr. Worley stated before he left Council he wanted Council to consider doing something that he thought they 
should have done a long time ago and he thought they needed a county appearance board. He thought there 
was another layer that they needed to put in there as a catch all to make sure that these developers and 
unscrupulous developers do the right thing by their neighbors. Number one being aluminum siding on these slabs. 

5 



 

       
    

          
               

  

          
                

  

     

   

           
            

  

   
  

             
   

  

   

   

  

   

    

         

          

       

  

 

 
 

  
  

 
 

   
 

 

 
 

________________________________________ 

__________________________________ 

He thought all these things should play into an appearance board.  Myrtle Beach had one and it had worked well 
for Myrtle Beach over the years.  He wanted to consider that and if they liked it they had a couple more meetings 
before the end. Maybe they could get it up for discussion and at least get it to committee and give them an 
opportunity. He asked Mr. Carotti to explain to Council what can and can’t be done about reconsideration of the 
flood ordinance. 

Mr. Carotti stated the flood ordinance that just failed could be reconsidered before the reading of the minutes at 
the next regular meeting of County Council. If the reconsideration was voted up by a majority of County Council 
it takes the ordinance just before that night’s vote.  It takes it back in time. 

Mr. DiSabato wanted to clarify who would be… 

Mr. Worley stated he had the floor and Chairman Gardner told Mr. DiSabato to let Mr. Worley finish. 

Mr. Worley told Mr. Carotti to make sure that everybody on the dais understood. If there was any questions about 
what he just said they needed to make sure they asked him about it inasmuch as it can be reconsidered at their 
next regular meeting. 

Mr. DiSabato asked of the six who voted for or against, which group does the motion to reconsider have to come 
from, of the six who voted against it. 

Mr. Carotti stated the motion itself had to be made by one of the six who voted against the passage of the 
ordinance that evening.  It could be seconded by anyone else and voted on by the entirety of the body. 

Mr. Vaught said in actuality could they not move then to reconsider? 

Chairman Gardner replied yes if they had somebody from the six that voted against it they could. 

Mr. Worley stated it was a bad idea. 

Mr. DiSabato said one of the six of them that voted Nay would have to make that motion, correct? 

Mr. Carotti replied yes. 

Mr. Vaught stated he was just clarifying that point. 

ADJOURNMENT: With no further business, Mr. Servant moved to adjourn at approximately 7:03 p.m., 

seconded by Mr. Howard. The motion was unanimously passed. The meeting was adjourned in memoriam 

of: Lois Martin; Edna Clark; Beth Clark; Lucille Horne; David Odell Stalvey, III; Whitney Martin; Rev. Jesse Eugene 

Gardner; and Capt. Archie McLauchlin. 

HORRY COUNTY COUNCIL 

Johnny Gardner, Chairman 

Harold G. Worley, District 1 Orton Bellamy, District 7 
Bill Howard, District 2 Johnny Vaught, District 8 
Dennis DiSabato, District 3 R. Mark Causey, District 9 
Gary Loftus, District 4 Danny Hardee, District 10 
Tyler Servant, District 5 Al Allen, District 11 
Cam Crawford, District 6 

Attest: 

Patricia S. Hartley, Clerk to Council 

6 

























































































































































































































  
 
 

  

 
      

       
     

 
 

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 
   
 

 
 
       

   
    

   
  

   
      

  
   
   

 
  

 
   

  
      

  
 
   

  
 

 
  

 
     

    
 
    
 

 
 

________________________________________ 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ORDINANCE 131-2022 
) 

COUNTY OF HORRY ) 

AN ORDINANCE TO AUTHORIZE AND APPROVE THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
FEE AGREEMENT BETWEEN HORRY COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND A COMPANY 
IDENTIFIED FOR THE TIME BEING AS PROJECT FREE PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT 
OF A FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAXES; AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO. 

By the power and authority granted to the Horry County Council by the Constitution of the State of South 
Carolina, and the powers granted to the County by the General Assembly of the State, it is ordained and 
enacted that: 

Section 1. Findings and Determinations 

Council finds and determines that: 

(a) Horry County, South Carolina (the “County”) acting by and through its County Council 
(the “Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Laws of 
South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), and specifically Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code (the “Fee 
in Lieu of Tax Simplification Act” or “FILOT Act”), to enter into agreements with business and industry, 
to offer certain privileges, benefits, and incentives as inducements for economic development within the 
County whereby the business or industry would pay fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes (“FILOT Payments”) 
with respect to qualified business and industrial projects, through all such powers the economic 
development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing 
manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate or remain and expand in the State and thus utilize and 
employ the workforce, products and resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the 
County by providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise adequately 
provided locally; and 

(b) A company identified for the time being as Project Free, together with one or more affiliates 
or landowners (the “Company”), is considering making investments and undertaking certain activities in 
the County (the “Project”), and the Company anticipates that, should plans proceed as expected, investment 
in the Project will equal or exceed $3,726,000; and 

(c) Pursuant to Resolution R-__-2022, adopted on [__________, 2022], an Inducement 
Resolution, the Council committed, among other things, to enter into a negotiated FILOT arrangement for 
the Project with the Company (“Fee Agreement”); and 

(d) The Company has caused to be prepared and presented the form of the Fee Agreement by 
and between the County and Company; and 

(e) It appears that the Fee Agreement attached to this ordinance is in appropriate form and is 
an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered by the County for the purposes intended. 

Section 2. Statutory Findings 

As contemplated, in part, by Section 12-44-40(I) of the FILOT Act, based on information provided to the 
County by the Company, the County makes the following findings and determinations: 

Ordinance 131-2022 
Page 1 of 4 



  
 
 

  

 
      

 
  

 
 

   
   

 
 

    
    

 
        

 
 

 
      

 
    
 

      
  

 
 

              
    

  
  

 
 

 
 
   
 

   
  

   
 

 
   
 

    
        

      
 

 
   
 

________________________________________ 

(a) The Project will constitute a “project” as referred to and defined in the FILOT Act; and 

(b) The Project, and the County’s actions herein, will subserve the purposes of the FILOT Act; 
and 

(c) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the State and the County 
by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise 
adequately provided locally; and 

(d) The Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; and 

(e) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, creation of 
jobs, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and public 
purposes; and 

(f) The benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

Section 3. Approval of Fee Agreement 

The Fee Agreement, attached to this ordinance as Exhibit A, is authorized, ratified and approved, and all 
the provisions, terms, and conditions thereof are authorized, ratified and approved and the Fee Agreement 
is incorporated herein by reference as if the Fee Agreement was set out in this ordinance in its entirety.  The 
Council Chairman is authorized, empowered, and directed to execute the Fee Agreement in the name of 
and on behalf of the County, and thereupon to cause the Fee Agreement to be delivered to the Company. 
The Clerk to Council is authorized, empowered and directed to attest the Fee Agreement.  The Fee 
Agreement is to be in substantially the form as attached to this ordinance and hereby approved, with such 
changes therein as shall not be materially adverse to the County and as shall be approved by the officials of 
the County executing the same, upon the advice of counsel to the County, such official’s execution thereof 
to constitute conclusive evidence of such official’s approval of any and all changes or revisions therein 
from the form of the Fee Agreement attached to this ordinance. 

Section 4. Authority to Act 

The Council Chairman, the County Administrator, the Clerk to Council, and any other appropriate official 
of the County, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby each authorized, empowered, and directed to do 
any and all things necessary or proper to effect the performance of all obligations of the County under and 
pursuant to the Fee Agreement. 

Section 5. Severability 

If a section, phrase, sentence, or portion of this ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional 
by any court of competent jurisdiction, the invalid or unconstitutional portion is deemed a separate, distinct, 
and independent provision, and the holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this 
ordinance. 

Section 6. Conflicting Provisions 

Ordinance 131-2022 
Page 2 of 4 



To the extent this ordinance contains provisions that conflict with provisions contained elsewhere in the 
Horry County Code or other County ordinances and resolutions, the provisions contained in this ordinance 
supersede all other provisions and this ordinance is controlling. 

Section 7. Effective Date 

This ordinance is effective upon third reading. 

AND IT IS SO ORDAINED, ENACTED AND ORDERED this_ day of _____ , 2022. 

Attest: 

Harold G. Worley, District 1 
Dennis DiSabato, District 3 
Tyler Servant, District 5 
Orton Bellamy, District 7 
R. Mark Causey, District 9 
Al Allen, District 11 

Patricia S. Hartley, Clerk to Council 

HORRY COUNTY COUNCIL 

Johnny Gardner, Chairman 

First Reading: 
Second Reading: 

November 1, 2022 
November 15, 2022 

Third Reading: 

Public Hearing: 

Bill Howard, District 2 
Gary Loftus, District 4 
Cam Crawford, District 6 
Johnny Vaught, District 8 
Danny Hardee, District 10 

Ordinance 131-2022 
Page 3 of 4 



  
 
 

  

   
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

________________________________________ 

Exhibit A to Ordinance 131-2022 

FEE AGREEMENT 
AMONG 

HORRY COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, AND PROJECT  FREE 

See attached. 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

Ordinance 131-2022 
Page 4 of 4 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

FEE AGREEMENT 

between 

HORRY COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

and 

PROJECT FREE, 
a South Carolina ________________ 

Dated as of ________ __, 2022 



 

    
 

 

   

  
   

  

   
   

   

    
   

    

   
   
    
    
   
  

   

       
  

  

     
  

  

   
   

   

   
   

 
   
   

   

Table of Contents 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS .......................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.01. Definitions............................................................................................ 1 
Section 1.02. References to Agreement. .................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS............................................................................................. 7 
Section 2.01. Representations by County .................................................................. 7 
Section 2.02. Representations by Company .............................................................. 7 

ARTICLE III COVENANTS OF COUNTY................................................................................. 8 
Section 3.01. Agreement to Accept FILOT Payments .............................................. 8 
Section 3.02. Commensurate Benefits ....................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE IV COVENANTS OF COMPANY ........................................................................... 10 
Section 4.01. Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement ............................... 10 
Section 4.02. Investment in Project. ........................................................................ 10 
Section 4.03. Payment of Administration Expenses................................................ 11 
Section 4.04. Use of Project for Lawful Activities.................................................. 11 
Section 4.05. Maintenance of Existence .................................................................. 11 
Section 4.06. Records and Reports. ......................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE V FEES IN LIEU OF TAXES ................................................................................... 16 
Section 5.01. Payment of Fees in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes ................................. 16 
Section 5.02. Statutory Lien..................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE VI THIRD PARTY ARRANGEMENTS .................................................................. 21 
Section 6.01. Conveyance of Liens and Interests; Assignment ............................... 21 
Section 6.02. Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates. ....................................................... 22 

ARTICLE VII TERM; TERMINATION .................................................................................... 23 
Section 7.01. Term................................................................................................... 23 
Section 7.02. Termination........................................................................................ 23 

ARTICLE VIII EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES .................................................... 24 
Section 8.01. Events of Default ............................................................................... 24 
Section 8.02. Remedies on Event of Default ........................................................... 24 

Section 8.03. Defaulted Payments ........................................................................... 24 
Section 8.04. Default by County.............................................................................. 25 

ARTICLE IX MISCELLANEOUS ............................................................................................. 26 

i 



 

    

   
  
  
   
  
   
   
   
   
   
   

 

    
 

Section 9.01. Rights and Remedies Cumulative...................................................... 26 
Section 9.02. Successors and Assigns...................................................................... 26 
Section 9.03. Notices; Demands; Requests.............................................................. 26 
Section 9.04. Applicable Law.................................................................................. 27 
Section 9.05. Entire Understanding ......................................................................... 27 
Section 9.06. Severability ........................................................................................ 27 
Section 9.07. Headings and Table of Contents; References .................................... 27 
Section 9.08. Multiple Counterparts ........................................................................ 27 
Section 9.09. Amendments ...................................................................................... 27 
Section 9.10. Waiver................................................................................................ 27 
Section 9.11. Further Proceedings ........................................................................... 27 

EXHIBIT A - LAND DESCRIPTION ...................................................................................... A-1 
EXHIBIT B – APPLICABLE MILLAGE RATES ………………………………………… B-1 

ii 



 

 

 

 
  

 
 

    

    
  

 
  

 
  

  
 

   
  

   
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

   

  

 
 

  
 

    

 
 

 

  

  
 

FEE AGREEMENT 

This FEE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), is dated as of ___________ __, 2022, and 
is between HORRY COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a body politic and 
corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and PROJECT FREE, a 
South Carolina ________________ (“Company”). 

R E C I T A L S 

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the “Council”), is 
authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Laws of South 
Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), and specifically Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code (the 
“Fee in Lieu Tax Simplification Act”, “FILOT Act”, or “Act”): (i) to enter into agreements with 
certain investors to construct, operate, maintain, and improve projects through which the 
economic development of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by 
inducing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the State and thus 
utilize and employ the workforce, agricultural products, and natural resources of the State; and 
(ii) to covenant with such investors to accept certain fee in lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) 
payments with respect to a project; and 

WHEREAS, the Company is considering making an investment in the County to 
establish and/or expand certain commercial and related facilities in the 
______________________ Park (the “Project”), and anticipates that, should its plan proceed as 
expected, it will invest, or cause to be invested, $3,726,000 or more in the Project by the end of 
the Compliance Period (as defined herein), all as set forth in greater detail herein; and 

WHEREAS, the County has determined that the Project will subserve the purposes of the 
Act and has made certain findings pertaining thereto in accordance with the Act; and 

WHEREAS, the County has determined it is in the best interest of the County to enter 
into this Agreement with the Company, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and, 
by Ordinance ___-2022 enacted on _______ __, 2022, Council approved the form, terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. 

A G R E E M E N T 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises; the potential investment by and 
caused by the Company, which contributes to the tax base and the economic welfare of the 
County; the respective representations, benefits and agreements hereinafter contained; and for 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the County and Company agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  In addition to the words and terms elsewhere defined in 
this Agreement, the following words and terms as used herein and in the preambles hereto shall 
have the following meanings unless the context or use indicates another or different meaning or 
intent. 



    
 

  
   
 

 

  

   
  

  
 

      
 

 
  

   
 
 

    
 

     

    
  

   
  

  
 
 

  
 

   
 

   
 

    

  
 

  
     

  

  
 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 2 of 29 

“Act” shall mean the FILOT Act. 

“Administration Expenses” shall mean the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred 
by the County in the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement and in the 
implementation and administration of its terms and provisions, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees, but excluding any expenses incurred by the County in defending suits brought by the 
Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate under Section 8.04 hereof; provided, that the 
County shall have furnished to the Company an itemized statement of all expenses incurred. 
Nothing herein shall be construed as prohibiting the County from engaging the counsel of its 
choice for matters deemed necessary and prudent by the County. 

“Affiliate” shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other 
Person or entity which owns all or part of the Company or any other Co-Investor, as the case 
may be, or which is owned in whole or in part by the Company or any other Co-Investor, as the 
case may be, or by any partner, shareholder or owner of the Company or any other Co-Investor, 
as the case may be. 

“Agreement” shall mean this Fee Agreement as originally executed and from time to 
time supplemented or amended as permitted herein. 

“Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, unless the 
context clearly requires otherwise. 

“Co-Investor” shall mean each of the Company and any other Sponsor or Sponsor 
Affiliate within the meaning of Sections 12-44-30(19) and (20) of the FILOT Act, any Affiliate 
of the Company or of any such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, any developer in a build-to-
suit arrangement with respect to the Project, any lessor of equipment or other property 
comprising a part of the Project, and any financing entity or other third party investing in, or 
providing funds, for the Project.  The Company shall notify the County in writing of the identity 
of any other Sponsor, Sponsor Affiliate or Co-Investor and shall, to the extent the Company and 
any such Co-Investor intend to extend the benefits of the FILOT to property owned by such Co-
Investor pursuant to Section 6.02 hereof, comply with any additional notice requirements, or 
other applicable provisions, of the FILOT Act.  As of the date of original execution and delivery 
of this Agreement, the Company is the only Co-Investor. 

“Commencement Date” shall mean the last day of the property tax year during which 
economic development property is placed in service, except that this date must not be later than 
the last day of the property tax year which is three years from the year in which the County and 
Company or Sponsor entered into this Agreement. 

“Company” shall mean Project Free, a South Carolina ______________, its affiliates and 
subsidiaries acting for themselves, one or more affiliates and/or other project sponsors, and any 
surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation or transfer of assets 
permitted under Sections 4.05 or 6.01 hereof or any other assignee hereunder which is 
designated by the Company and approved by the County. 

“Compliance Period” shall mean the period commencing with the first day that 
negotiated FILOT Property is purchased or acquired, whether before or after the date of this 



    
 

  
   
 

 

    
   

  
 

  

  
 

  

    

  
 

   

   
  

  
   

  
  

  
  

   
  

   
  

  
  

   
    

 
 
 
 

   

    

    
 

   
  

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 3 of 29 

Agreement, and ending on the fifth anniversary of the Commencement Date, all as specified in 
Section 12-44-30(13) of the FILOT Act.  It is presently anticipated, but not required, that the 
initial negotiated FILOT Property comprising all or a portion of the Project will be placed in 
service in the Property Tax Year ending on December 31, 2022, and, in such event, the 
Compliance Period will end on December 31, 2027. 

“County” shall mean Horry County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a 
political subdivision of the State, and its successors and assigns. 

“Council” shall mean the governing body of the County and its successors. 

“Deficiency Payment” shall have the meaning specified in Section 5.01(e) hereof. 

“Department of Revenue” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue and 
any successor entity thereto. 

“Event of Default” shall mean an Event of Default, as set forth in Section 8.01 hereof. 

“Existing Property” shall mean property proscribed from becoming FILOT Property 
under this Agreement pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the FILOT Act, including without 
limitation property which has been subject to ad valorem taxes in the State prior to 
commencement of the Investment Period and property included in the Project as part of the 
repair, alteration, or modification of such previously taxed property; provided, however, that 
Existing Property shall not include: (a) the Land; (b) property acquired or constructed by or on 
behalf of the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate during the Investment Period 
which has not been placed in service in this State prior to the commencement of the Investment 
Period notwithstanding that ad valorem taxes have heretofore been paid with respect to such 
property, or property which has been placed in service in the State pursuant to an inducement 
agreement or other preliminary approval by the County, prior to the execution of this Agreement 
pursuant to Section 12-44-40(E) of the FILOT Act; (c) property purchased by or on behalf of the 
Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate during the Investment Period in a transaction 
other than between any of the entities specified in Section 267(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, 
as defined under Chapter 6 of Title 12 of the Code as of the time of the transfer, to the extent that 
the Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate invests, or causes to be invested, at least 
an additional $45,000,000 in the Project, exclusive of the property identified in this item (c); or 
(d) modifications which constitute an expansion of the real property or real property 
improvement portions of Existing Property, all as determined pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of 
the FILOT Act.  As used in the immediately preceding sentence, “expansion” shall include all 
modifications, alterations, additions, and improvements that are considered necessary, suitable, 
or useful by the Company. 

“FILOT” shall mean fee in lieu of ad valorem property taxes. 

“FILOT Act” shall mean the Fee in Lieu Tax Simplification Act, codified as Title 12, 
Chapter 44 of the Code, as amended. 

“FILOT Payment” or “FILOT Payments” shall mean the FILOT due pursuant to Section 
5.01 hereof with respect to that portion of the Project consisting of FILOT Property which 



    
 

  
   
 

 

    
  

  
  

    
  

 
   

   
  

   
 
 

  
      

  

 
      

  
  

  
   

  

  
 

   
  

  
    

 
 

   
 

   
  

     
 

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 4 of 29 

qualifies pursuant to the FILOT Act for the negotiated assessment ratio and millage rate 
described in Section 5.01(b)(ii) hereof. 

“FILOT Property” shall mean all property qualifying for the FILOT as economic 
development property within the meaning of Section 12-44-30(6) of the FILOT Act, including, 
without limitation, each item of real and tangible personal property comprising the Project which 
is placed in service prior to the end of the Investment Period and which meets the requirements 
of Sections 12-44-30(6) and 12-44-40(C) of the FILOT Act, together with all Replacement 
Property, but excluding any Non-Qualifying Property and any Released Property. 

“Investment Period” shall mean the period equal to the Compliance Period; provided, 
however, that, if the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement is satisfied, the period for 
completion of the Project may be extended upon approval of such extension by Council in its 
sole discretion, to a period not to exceed the tenth (10th) anniversary of the end of the Property 
Tax Year in which the initial negotiated FILOT Property comprising all or a portion of the 
Project is placed in service, all in accordance with Section 12-44-30(13) of the FILOT Act. In the 
event that the FILOT Property comprising all or a portion of the Project is, as presently 
anticipated, placed in service in the Property Tax Year ending on December 31, 2022, the 
Investment Period will end on December 31, 2027. 

“Land” shall mean the land upon which the Project is or will be located, as described in 
Exhibit A attached hereto, as Exhibit A may be supplemented from time to time in accordance 
with the provisions hereof. 

“Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement” shall mean investment in the Project of 
at least $3,726,000 (without regard to subsequent depreciation or other diminution in value) by 
the Company and all Co-Investors, in the aggregate, by the end of the Compliance Period, as 
reported by the Company and any Co-Investors, if any, on their respective PT-300T form or 
comparable forms filed with the Department of Revenue. 

“Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement” shall mean investment in the Project of 
not less than $2,500,000 within the period beginning with the first day in which the initial 
property comprising a portion of the Project is placed in service and ending on the last day of the 
fifth property tax year following the property tax year the initial property is placed in service, as 
required by Section 12-44-30(14) of the FILOT Act, which investment amount shall be 
calculated in accordance with Section 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act and Section 6.02 hereof in 
determining whether the Company and any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate qualifies for the 
FILOT. 

“Multi-County Park” shall mean the multi-county industrial or business park established 
pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act and the Multi-County Park Agreement. “Multi-County 
Park” includes any subsequent park or any subsequent park agreement that includes the Land, 
and as authorized by the Multi-County Park Act. 

“Multi-County Park Act” shall mean Sections 4-1-170, 4-1-172 and 4-1-175 of the Code 
and Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution, as amended through the date 
of this Agreement. 



    
 

  
   
 

 

   
  

    
 

 

   
 

    
 

     
  

  

  
 

 

   
  

  
   

  
   

      
 

     
    

  

    
  

   
  

  
  

 

  
    

  
   

  
 

   
    

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 5 of 29 

“Multi-County Park Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for the Development of a 
Joint Industrial and Business Park between the County and [_________ County, South 
Carolina], dated as of [____________, 20__], relating to the ______________, as 
supplemented, modified or amended, and as such agreement may be further supplemented, 
modified, amended, or replaced from time to time. 

“Non-Qualifying Property” shall mean that portion of the facilities located on the Land 
and consisting of (i) Existing Property, (ii) except as to Replacement Property, property which 
the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate places in service after the end of the 
Investment Period, and (iii) any other property which fails or ceases to qualify for FILOT 
Payments under the FILOT Act, including without limitation property as to which the Company 
or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate has terminated the FILOT pursuant to Section 
4.02(e)(iii) hereof. 

“Person” shall mean and include any individual, association, unincorporated 
organization, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, or government or 
agency or political subdivision thereof. 

“Project” shall mean (i) the Land and all buildings, structures, fixtures and other real 
property improvements now or hereafter constructed on the Land, (ii) all machinery, equipment, 
furnishings and other personal property heretofore or hereafter acquired by or on behalf of the 
Company or any Co-Investors for use on or about the Land, and (iii) any Replacement Property; 
provided, however, except as to Replacement Property, the term Project shall be deemed to 
include such real property improvements and personal property, whether now existing or 
hereafter constructed or acquired, only to the extent placed in service in the County within the 
Investment Period. 

“Property Tax Year” shall mean the annual period which is equal to the fiscal year of the 
Company or any other Co-Investor, as the case may be, i.e., with respect to the Company, the 
period ending on December 31 of each year. 

“Released Property” shall include property which was initially FILOT Property but 
which is scrapped, sold, disposed of, or released from this Agreement by the Company or any 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to Section 4.02(e) hereof and Section 12-44-50(B) 
of the FILOT Act; property which the Company or such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate dedicates 
to the public use within the meaning of Section 12-6-3420(C) of the Code; and any FILOT 
Property damaged, destroyed, or taken by process of eminent domain and not restored or 
replaced. 

“Replacement Property” shall mean all property placed in service in substitution of, or as 
replacement for, any Released Property, regardless of whether such property serves the same 
function as the property it replaces and regardless of whether more than one piece replaces a 
single piece of FILOT Property, but only to the extent that such property may be included in the 
calculation of the FILOT pursuant to Section 5.01(d) hereof and Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT 
Act.

 “Sponsor” and “Sponsor Affiliate” shall mean an entity whose investment with respect 
to the Project will qualify for the FILOT pursuant to Section 6.02 hereof and Sections 12-44-



    
 

  
   
 

 

  
  

 

     

 

    
  

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 6 of 29 

30(19) or (20) and Section 12-44-130 of the Code.  As of the original execution and delivery of 
this Agreement, the only Sponsor is Company. 

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

“Term” shall mean the term of this Agreement, as set forth in Section 7.01 hereof. 

“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the FILOT Act. 

Section 1.02. References to Agreement. The words “hereof”, “herein”, “hereunder”, 
and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole. 

END OF ARTICLE I 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 

 
 

 

     
 
 

      
 

 
  

  
 
 

  
      
  

    

 
   

 

 

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 7 of 29 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Section 2.01. Representations by County. The County represents that (i) it is a body 
politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State, (ii) it is authorized by the Act to 
enter into this Agreement, (iii) it has approved this Agreement in accordance with the procedural 
requirements of the Act and any other applicable state law, and (iv) it has authorized its officials 
to execute and deliver this Agreement. 

Section 2.02. Representations by Company.  The Company makes the following 
representations as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The Company is a _________________ organized and existing and in good 
standing under the laws of South Carolina and authorized to do business in the State; has all 
requisite power to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder; and by 
proper action has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement.  The Company’s 
fiscal year end is December 31, and the Company will notify the County of any changes in the 
fiscal year of the Company. 

(b) The Company presently intends to operate, or cause operation of, the Project as 
____________________________. 

(c) The agreements with the County with respect to the FILOT Payments, as set forth 
herein, were factors in inducing the Company to locate the Project within the County and the 
State. 

END OF ARTICLE II 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
 

 

    
    

 
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

  
    

 
   

 
    

  
  

 
 

   
   

 
 

 
  

        
   

 

 
    

  
 

   
  

   
  

 
  

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 8 of 29 

ARTICLE III 

COVENANTS OF COUNTY 

Section 3.01. Agreement to Accept FILOT Payments. The County agrees to accept 
FILOT Payments in accordance with Section 5.01 hereof in lieu of ad valorem taxes with respect 
to that portion of the Project consisting of FILOT Property until this Agreement expires or is 
sooner terminated. 

Section 3.02. Commensurate Benefits.  The parties acknowledge the intent of this 
Agreement, in part, is to afford the Company and each other Co-Investor the benefits specified in 
this Article III in consideration of the Company’s decision to locate the Project within the 
County, and this Agreement has been entered into in reliance upon the enactment of the Act and 
the County’s compliance with the requirements thereof. In the event that a court of competent 
jurisdiction holds that the FILOT Act is, in whole or in part, unconstitutional or this Agreement 
or agreements similar in nature to this Agreement are invalid or unenforceable in any material 
respect, or should the Company determine there is a reasonable doubt as to the validity or 
enforceability of this Agreement in any material respect, then at the request of Company, the 
County agrees to use its best efforts to extend to the Company and each other Co-Investor the 
intended benefits of this Agreement, including, without limitation, any benefits afforded under 
the Act, as applicable, to the extent allowed by law, but expressly excluding any benefits 
afforded under Title 12, Chapter 6 of the Code.  Further, the County agrees, if requested by the 
Company or any other Co-Investor, to enter into a lease purchase agreement with the Company 
and each other Co-Investor pursuant to Section 12-44-160 of the FILOT Act, and Title 4, 
Chapter 29 or Title 4, Chapter 12 of the Code, as applicable, or to take such other steps as may 
be appropriate to extend to the Company and each other Co-Investor the intended benefits of this 
Agreement.  The Company acknowledges that if a court of competent jurisdiction holds all or 
part of the FILOT Act is unconstitutional or otherwise illegal, the FILOT Act currently provides 
the Company and each other Co-Investor must transfer the FILOT Property to the County 
pursuant to lease-purchase arrangements within 180 days following such determination in order 
for the FILOT benefits to continue to apply.  In such lease purchase agreement, the County, upon 
the conveyance of title to the Project to the County at the expense of the Company or such other 
Co-Investor, as the case may be, agrees to lease the Project to the Company or any such other 
Co-Investor, as the case may be, and upon payment of all outstanding obligations incurred under 
such lease purchase agreement, the Company and each such other Co-Investor shall have the 
option to purchase its respective portion of the Project for Ten Dollars ($10.00). 

Section 3.03. Multi-County Park Designation. The County agrees to take action to 
place the Project, including, but not limited to, the Land in the Multi-County Park, if not already 
located in the Multi-County Park, and agrees to use its best efforts to maintain the Project within 
the boundaries of the Multi-County Park pursuant to the provisions of the Multi-County Park Act 
until the date this Agreement is terminated.  If it becomes necessary to move the Land from one 
multi-county park to another prior to the termination of this Agreement, the County agrees to use 
its best efforts to place the Land in a multi-county park established pursuant to the Multi-County 
Park Act and to maintain the multi-county park designation until the date this Agreement is 
terminated.  The parties acknowledge and agree that the County’s agreement to place and 



    
 

  
   
 

 

     
  

 

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 9 of 29 

maintain the Land in a multi-county park may be subject to the exercise of discretion by a 
governmental entity other than the County and the exercise of that discretion is not controlled by 
the County. 

END OF ARTICLE III 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
 

 
 

   
  

 

 

   
 

  
  

    
       

 
 

 
  

   
 

 
  

   
  

  

  
 

 

   
   

 
  

 
   

    
 
     

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 10 of 29 

ARTICLE IV 

COVENANTS OF COMPANY 

Section 4.01. Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement. The Company agrees that 
it will comply with, or cause compliance with, the Minimum Contractual Investment 
Requirement. 

Section 4.02. Investment in Project. 

(a) The Company hereby agrees to acquire, equip, or construct, or cause to be 
acquired, equipped, or constructed, the Project, as the same shall be determined from time to 
time by the Company, in its sole discretion.  As required by Section 12-44-30(2) of the FILOT 
Act, at least a portion of the FILOT Property comprising the Project shall be placed in service no 
later than the end of the Property Tax Year which is three years from the year in which this 
Agreement is executed and delivered, i.e. the Property Tax Year ending on December 31, 2025. 

(b) Expenditures by Co-Investors shall, together with expenditures by the Company, 
count toward all investment requirements set forth in this Agreement, including the Minimum 
Contractual Investment Requirement and, to the full extent permitted by the FILOT Act, the 
Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement.  Aggregate investment shall generally be 
determined by reference to the property tax returns of the Company and all other Co-Investors 
filed with respect to the Project, including without limitation, each such entity’s SCDOR PT-300 
or such comparable forms, as the Department of Revenue may provide in connection with 
projects under the Act and filed with respect to each Property Tax Year during the Investment 
Period, without regard to depreciation or other diminution in value.  

(c) The County agrees that if the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement is 
satisfied, the Investment Period may be extended as set forth in this agreement. 

(d) The Company and/or its designated Co-Investors shall retain title to, or other 
property rights in, its respective portion of the Project throughout the Term of this Agreement, 
and the Company and each other Co-Investor shall have full right to lease, mortgage or 
encumber the Project, including, without limitation, in connection with any financing 
transactions, in its sole discretion. 

(e) The Company and each other Co-Investor shall have the right at any time and 
from time to time during the Term hereof to undertake any of the following: 

(i) The Company and each other Co-Investor may, at its own expense, add to 
the Project real and personal property as the Company or such Co-Investor, as the case may be, 
in its discretion deems useful or desirable, including FILOT Property qualifying for the FILOT 
under Section 5.01 hereof without any limit as to the amount thereof. 

(ii) Subject to the provisions of Section 5.01(f)(ii) hereof, in any instance 
when the Company or any other Co-Investor in its discretion determines any items included in 
the Project, including any FILOT Property and any portion of the Land, have become 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
   

  
 

  
  

   
   

   
 

  

     
   

    
    

     
  

 
 

 

  
   

    
   

 
 

   
    

 
   

     
  

 

  
   

 

 
   

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 11 of 29 

inadequate, obsolete, worn out, unsuitable, undesirable, or unnecessary for operations at the 
Project, the Company or such Co-Investor as the case may be, may remove such property or 
portions of the Land from the Project and sell, trade in, exchange, or otherwise dispose of them 
as a whole or in part without the consent of the County. 

(iii) The Company and each other Co-Investor may, at any time and in its 
discretion by written notice to the County, remove any FILOT Property, real or personal, from 
the FILOT arrangement set forth in this Agreement and retain such property for use as part of its 
operations in the County, and thereafter such property will be subject to ad valorem taxes; 
provided, that any such notice requirement may be, but shall not be required to be, satisfied by 
property tax returns filed with respect to the Project, including without limitation, such entity’s 
SCDOR PT-300 or such comparable forms, as the Department of Revenue may provide in 
connection with projects under the Act. 

(iv) If the Company or any other Co-Investor sells, leases, or otherwise 
disposes of any portion of the Land, the Company or such other Co-Investor shall deliver to the 
County, a revised Exhibit A to this Agreement or supplements to Exhibit A and such revised or 
supplemented Exhibit A shall be automatically made a part of this Agreement without the 
necessity of additional action or proceedings by the County; provided, that any requirement to 
provide such revisions or supplements to the County may be, but shall not be required to be, 
satisfied by property tax returns filed with respect to the Project, including without limitation, 
such entity’s SCDOR PT-300 or such comparable forms, as the Department of Revenue may 
provide in connection with projects under the Act. 

(v) All FILOT Property sold, leased or otherwise disposed of under this 
Section 4.02(e) shall be deemed Released Property for purposes of this Agreement. 

Section 4.03. Payment of Administration Expenses. The Company will reimburse, or 
cause reimbursement of, the County from time to time for its Administration Expenses promptly 
upon written request therefor, but in no event later than sixty (60) days after receiving written 
notice from the County specifying the nature of such expense and requesting the payment of the 
same.  The County acknowledges it imposes no charge in the nature of recurring fees in 
connection with the incentives authorized by this Agreement, and, aside from attorney’s fees, the 
County does not reasonably foresee that any out of pocket expenses in connection with the 
Agreement and the transactions authorized hereby will be incurred. 

Section 4.04. Use of Project for Lawful Activities. During the Term of this 
Agreement, the Company and any other Co-Investor shall use the Project as it deems fit for any 
lawful purpose. 

Section 4.05. Maintenance of Existence.  Except in the event the resulting, surviving 
or transferee entity is the Company, an Affiliate of the Company, or a company with which the 
Company shares common management, as to which such consolidation, merger, or transfer the 
County hereby consents, unless the County shall provide prior consent or subsequent ratification 
otherwise, which consent or ratification shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or 
delayed, the Company covenants that it will maintain its separate existence and will not dissolve 
or consolidate with, merge into or transfer, or otherwise dispose of substantially all of its 



    
 

  
   
 

 

  
  

   
 

  
 

  
  

 
  

  
 

   
 

 

    
 

  
     

  
 

 
  

     

   
  

 

  
   

 

    
  

 

  
 

   

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 12 of 29 

property to any other entity or permit one or more other entities to consolidate with or merge into 
it or purchase substantially all of its property unless: 

(a) the Company shall be the continuing business entity, or the business entity formed 
by such consolidation, or into which the Company is merged, or the entity which acquires by 
conveyance or transfer all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, and shall (i) be an entity 
organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof or the 
District of Columbia and qualified to do business in the State, (ii) have a net worth equal to or 
greater than the net worth of the Company immediately preceding the date of such merger, 
consolidation or transfer, and (iii) expressly and unconditionally assume, by written agreement 
supplemental hereto and acceptable to the County as to form and content, in its reasonable 
discretion, every payment obligation of the Company herein and the performance of every 
covenant of this Agreement on the part of the Company to be performed or observed; 

(b) immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of Default, and no 
event, which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event of Default, shall have 
happened and be continuing; and 

(c) the Company shall have delivered to the County (i) a certificate of a duly 
authorized officer of the Company accompanied by financial statements of the surviving 
company (if other than the Company) showing compliance with the net worth requirements 
specified in paragraph (a) above and (ii) an opinion of counsel for the Company and/or counsel 
to the transferee company, each stating that such consolidation, merger, conveyance or transfer 
and such supplement to this Agreement comply with this Section and that all conditions 
precedent herein provided for relating to such transaction have been complied with. 

Upon any consolidation or merger or any conveyance or transfer of all or substantially all 
of the Company’s assets in accordance with this Section 4.05, the successor business entity 
formed by such consolidation or into which the Company is merged or to which such 
conveyance or transfer is made shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every 
right and power of the Company under this Agreement with the same effect as if such successor 
entity had been named as the Company herein, and thereafter the Company shall be relieved of 
all obligations and covenants under this Agreement.  

If a consolidation, merger or conveyance or transfer is made as permitted by this Section 
4.05, the provisions of this Section 4.05 shall continue in full force and effect and no further 
consolidation, merger or conveyance or transfer shall be made except in compliance with the 
provisions of this Section 4.05. 

The Company acknowledges transfers of this Agreement or FILOT Property may cause 
the FILOT Property to become ineligible for a FILOT or result in penalties under the FILOT Act 
absent compliance by the Company with the Transfer Provisions. 

Section 4.06. Records and Reports.   

(A) The Company and each other Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliate will maintain, or cause 
to be maintained, such books and records as will permit (i) the identification of those portions of 
the Project which it places in service in each Property Tax Year during the Investment Period, 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
 

   
   

  
 

    
    

   
     

   
 

      
  
  

  

  
 

    
  

   
 

  
  

  

     
 

  
 

  
  

  

   
   

 
   

    
 

  
 

 
  

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 13 of 29 

the amount of investment with respect thereto, and (ii) the computation of all FILOT Payments 
to be made with respect to such property hereunder.  Company and each other Sponsor and 
Sponsor Affiliate agree to comply with all reporting requirements of the State and the County 
applicable to FILOT Property under the FILOT Act, including without limitation the reports 
required by Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Act (collectively, “Filings”).  Specifically, the 
following shall be provided: 

(1) Upon direction of the governing body of the County, a County Official may 
request and obtain such financial books and records from the Company and any other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate that support the FILOT returns of such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate as may be 
reasonably necessary to verify the calculations of the FILOT Payments by such Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate. For purposes of this item, the term “County Official” shall include the 
Administrator, Auditor, Assessor and Treasurer of the County. 

(2) Each year during the Term hereof, the Company and each other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate shall deliver to the County Auditor, the County Assessor, and the County 
Treasurer a copy of its most recent annual filings made with the Department of Revenue with 
respect to the Project at the same time as delivery thereof to the Department of Revenue. 

(3) The Company shall cause a copy of this Agreement, as well as a copy of the 
completed Form PT-443 required by the Department of Revenue, to be filed within thirty (30) 
days after the date of execution and delivery hereof with the County Auditor, the County 
Assessor, and the County Treasurer of the County, and with the Department of Revenue, and 
shall update such Form PT-443 from time to time to the extent that the information therein is no 
longer accurate. 

(B) Pursuant to Section 12-44-55(B) of the FILOT Act, the parties have agreed to waive 
all of the requirements of Section 12-44-55 of the FILOT Act, including specifically, Section 12-
44-55(A) of the FILOT Act. 

(C) The Company agrees that the County and its authorized agents have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon prior reasonable notice to enter upon and examine and inspect the 
Project and to have access to and examine and inspect all the Company’s books and records 
pertaining to the Project.  The right of examination and inspection shall be exercised only upon 
reasonable and necessary terms and conditions prescribed by the Company to protect the 
Company’s confidentiality and proprietary rights.  Any such entrance upon and examination and 
inspection of the Project shall be at the County’s expense. 

(D) The County acknowledges and understands that the Filings may contain, and the 
Company may have and maintain at the Project, certain confidential and proprietary information, 
including, but not limited to, trade secrets, financial, sales or other information concerning the 
operations and processes of the Company and other Co-Investors (“Confidential Information”) 
and that any disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in substantial harm to the 
Company or other Co-Investors and could have a significant detrimental impact on the 
employees of the Company or other Co-Investors and also upon the County.  Except as required 
by law, including, without limitation, court orders, the County agrees to use its best reasonable 
efforts to keep confidential, and to cause employees, agents and representatives of the County to 
keep confidential, the Confidential Information which may be obtained from the Company or 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
  

 
  

   
   

   
 

  

 
  

  
 

   
      

    
    

   
 

 

  
  

  
   

     
   

   
  

    
 

    
  

   
   

  
 

 

    
     

  
      

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 14 of 29 

any other Co-Investor, its agents or representatives, when the Confidential Information is clearly 
marked and identified as Confidential Information and known to the County to be Confidential 
Information.  The County shall not knowingly and willfully disclose and shall cause all 
employees, agents and representatives of the County to not knowingly and willfully disclose the 
marked and identified Confidential Information to any person or entity other than in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement. If a demand is made for the release, under color of law, to a 
third party of any Confidential Information, the County shall notify the Company or other Co-
Investor and give the Company or other Co-Investor the opportunity to contest the release. 

Section 4.07. Indemnification. 

(a) Except as provided in subsection (e) below, the Company shall, and agrees to, 
indemnify and save the County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an 
“Indemnified Party”) harmless against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s 
execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement or 
the administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 
having entered into this Agreement. Further, the Company shall, and agrees to, indemnify and 
save each Indemnified Party harmless against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, 
firm or corporation arising from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done 
on, the Project during the term of this Agreement. Further, the Company shall, and agrees to, 
indemnify and save each Indemnified Party harmless against and from all claims arising during 
the term of this Agreement from (i) any condition of the Project, (ii) any breach or default on the 
part of the Company in the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement, (iii) any 
act of negligence of the Company or any of its agents, servants, or employees on or with respect 
to its respective portion of the Project, (iv) any act of negligence of any assignee or sublessee of 
the Company with respect to its respective portion of the Project, or of any agents, servants, or 
employees of any assignee or sublessee of the Company with respect to its respective portion of 
the Project, or (v) any environmental violation, condition, or effect with respect to the Project. 
The indemnity provided in this Section 4.07 is from and against all costs and expenses incurred 
in or in connection with any such liability or claim arising as aforesaid in connection with the 
Project or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon.  

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that an Indemnified 
Party shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Agreement, or the 
undertakings required of an Indemnified Party hereunder, or by reason of the performance of any 
act requested of an Indemnified Party by the Company, including all claims, liabilities or losses 
arising in connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, 
nevertheless, if an Indemnified Party should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such 
event the Company shall indemnify and hold the Indemnified Party harmless against all claims 
by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and 
expenses incurred in connection with any such claim or in connection with any action or 
proceeding brought thereon. 

(c) Each Indemnified Party is entitled to defend itself in any action or proceeding and 
may use counsel of its choice and the Company shall reimburse the Indemnified Party for all of 
the Indemnified Party’s costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with 
the response to or defense against such liability or claims. The Indemnified Party shall provide a 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
    

   
   

   
    

    
  

   
  

 
   

  
 
 

  

   
  

  
  

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 15 of 29 

detailed statement of the costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Company shall pay 
the Indemnified Party within thirty (30) days of receipt of the statement. The Company may 
request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown on the statement. However, the 
Indemnified Party is not required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or 
confidential to evidence the costs. 

(d) An Indemnified Party may request the Company to resist or defend against any 
claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party. On such request, the Company shall resist or defend 
against such claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party, at the Company’s expense. The Company 
is entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage and control the defense of or response to such 
claim for the Indemnified Party; provided, however, the Company is not entitled to settle any 
such claim without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

(e) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company is not required to 
indemnify, save harmless, or resist or defend any claim against any Indemnified Party against or 
reimburse the County for costs arising from any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of 
that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated to the execution of this Agreement, performance of 
the County’s obligations under this Agreement, or the administration of its duties under this 
Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement; or (ii) 
resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own gross negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful 
misconduct. 

(f) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or 
reimbursement of costs provided unless it provides the Company with prompt notice, reasonable 
under the circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without 
limitation, copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or 
threats of claims. 

END OF ARTICLE IV 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 

 
 

  
 

      
 

     
  

  
 

 
 

    
  

   
 

  

  
  

   
  

 

    
 

    
   

   
   

    
 

   
  

  

  

 

  
 
 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 16 of 29 

ARTICLE V 

FEES IN LIEU OF TAXES 

Section 5.01. Payment of Fees in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes. 

(a) In accordance with the FILOT Act, the parties hereby agree, that during 
the Term hereof, there shall be due annually with respect to that portion of the Project 
constituting FILOT Property, whether owned by the Company or by any other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate, a FILOT calculated as set forth in this Section.  The FILOT shall be collected 
and enforced in accordance with Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Act.  It is anticipated that, with 
respect to the Company, the initial FILOT Payment, which shall be due under current Code 
requirements on the January 15 following the year in which the County adds the initial FILOT 
Property to its tax rolls, will be due on January 15, 2024 if the Company places the initial FILOT 
Property in service in the Property Tax Year ending December 31, 2022. If the Company 
designates any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliates, as the same shall have been consented to or 
ratified by the County pursuant to Section 6.02 hereof, if such consent or ratification is required 
thereunder, the Company must notify the County in writing at the time of such designation as to 
whether such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall be primarily liable for the FILOT Payments 
hereunder with respect to such other entity’s portion of the FILOT Property.  Unless and until 
any such additional notification is received, and the County consents in writing, the Company 
shall be primarily liable for all other FILOT Payments to the extent set forth hereinabove in this 
Section 5.01(a). 

(b) Subject to adjustment pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5.01, the FILOT 
shall be calculated each year in accordance with the following provisions: 

(i) For each annual increment of investment in FILOT Property, the FILOT 
Payments shall be payable for a period of twenty (20) years, except as may be altered pursuant 
to Section 5.01(f)(iii); provided, that the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 
may, prior to the end of such period, apply to the County for an extension of such period up to 
the maximum such extension permitted by the FILOT Act, and the County may approve of such 
extension, in its sole discretion.  Accordingly, if such FILOT Property is placed in service 
during more than one year, each year’s investment during the Investment Period shall, prior to 
any such additional extension, be subject to the FILOT for a period of twenty (20) years, except 
as may be altered pursuant to Section 5.01(f)(iii). 

(ii) The FILOT shall be calculated using: 

(1) a fixed assessment ratio of 6%;

 (2) a millage rate of 212.7, fixed for the Term of this Agreement; 

(3) the fair market value of the FILOT Property, determined in 
accordance with the FILOT Act, typically by using the original income tax basis without regard 
to depreciation or reassessment for any real property, but with regard to any ordinary 



    
 

  
   
 

 

  

     
   

   
   

 

  
 
 

 
  

  

   
 

  

    
  

  
  

      

 
   

   
 

 

   
   

  

   
  

  
   

   
 

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 17 of 29 

obsolescence factors traditionally applied to the Company’s real property and real property 
improvements, and the original income tax basis less allowable depreciation and ordinary 
obsolescence factors traditionally applied by the Department of Revenue to the Company’s 
personal property (except depreciation due to extraordinary obsolescence) for any personal 
property; provided, however, that to the extent permitted by law, the Company or any other 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate and the County may agree to hereafter amend this Agreement as to 
Project property owned by such entity so as to determine the fair market value of any such 
property in accordance with any other method permitted by the FILOT Act. 

(iii) All such calculations shall take into account all deductions for 
depreciation or diminution in value allowed by the Code or by the tax laws generally, and those 
tax exemptions which would have been applicable if such property were subject to ad valorem 
taxes, except the five-year exemption from taxes allowed for certain manufacturing, distribution, 
corporate headquarters and research and development facilities pursuant to Section 3(g) of 
Article X of the Constitution of the State and Sections 12-37-220(B)(32) and (34) of the Code. 

(iv) For purposes of calculating the FILOT, the FILOT Property shall not 
include any Released Property or Non-Qualifying Property. 

(c) The FILOT Payments are to be recalculated: 

(i) to reduce such payments in the event the Company or any other Sponsor 
or Sponsor Affiliate disposes of any part of the FILOT Property within the meaning of Section 
12-44-50(B) of the FILOT Act and as provided in Section 4.02(e)(ii) hereof, by the amount 
applicable to the Released Property; 

(ii) to reduce such payments in the event that the FILOT Property or any 
portion thereof is damaged or destroyed, lost or stolen, or the subject of condemnation 
proceedings, or otherwise removed from the Project as a result of circumstances beyond the 
control of the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate; 

(iii) to increase such payments in the event the Company or any other Sponsor 
or Sponsor Affiliate adds any FILOT Property (other than Replacement Property) to the Project; 
or 

(iv) to adjust such payments if the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor 
Affiliate elects to convert any portion of the FILOT Property from the FILOT to ad valorem 
taxes, as permitted by Section 4.02(e)(iii). 

(d) Upon installation or placing in service by the Company or any other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate of any Replacement Property for any Released Property, such Replacement 
Property shall become subject to FILOT Payments to the fullest extent allowed by law, pursuant 
to the following rules in accordance with Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT Act: 

(i) Such Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as 
the Released Property it is replacing.  Replacement Property is deemed to replace the oldest 
property subject to the FILOT, whether real or personal, which is disposed of in the same 
Property Tax Year as the Replacement Property is placed in service.  Replacement Property 



    
 

  
   
 

 

  
   

  
  

   
 

  
 

   
 

     
 

  
   
     

 
  

 
  

 
  

   
  

    
   

    
   
  

  
  

  
    

  

  

   
  

  
 

  
 

  
 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 18 of 29 

qualifies for FILOT Payments up to the original income tax basis of the Released Property which 
it is replacing in the same Property Tax Year.  More than one piece of property can replace a 
single piece of property.  To the extent that the income tax basis of the Replacement Property 
exceeds the original income tax basis of the Released Property which it is replacing, the excess 
amount is subject to payments equal to the ad valorem taxes which would have been paid on 
such property but for this Agreement.  Replacement property is entitled to the FILOT Payments 
for the remaining portion of the period set in Section 5.01(b)(i) applicable to the Released 
Property. 

(ii) The Company and any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall maintain, 
or cause to be maintained, records sufficient to identify all Replacement Property it places in 
service, and the FILOT Payments with respect thereto shall be calculated using the millage rate 
and assessment ratio provided on the property it is replacing. 

(e) In the event that, for any reason, the FILOT Act and/or the FILOT or any portion 
thereof is, by a court of competent jurisdiction following allowable appeals, declared invalid or 
unenforceable in whole or in part, or the portion of the Project consisting of FILOT Property is 
deemed not to be eligible for a FILOT pursuant to the FILOT Act in whole or in part, the 
Company and the County express their intentions that such payments be reformed so as to afford 
the Company and any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, benefits commensurate with those 
intended under this Agreement as then permitted by law, including without limitation any 
benefits afforded under Title 4, Chapter 12 and Title 4, Chapter 29 of the Code, as applicable, to 
the extent allowed by law, but expressly excluding any benefits afforded under Title 12, Chapter 
6 of the Code.  Absent the legal authorization to effect such reformation, the Company and the 
County agree that there shall be due hereunder with respect to the portion of the FILOT Property 
affected by such circumstances ad valorem taxes, and that, to the extent permitted by law, the 
Company and any other Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliate shall be entitled: (1) to enjoy any 
exemption from ad valorem taxes (or fees in lieu of taxes) provided by Article X, Section 3 of 
the Constitution of the State, and any other exemption allowed by law; and (2) to enjoy all 
allowable depreciation.  To the extent that under such circumstances the FILOT Payments 
hereunder are subject to retroactive adjustment, then there shall be due and payable with respect 
to the portion of the FILOT Property in question an amount equal to the difference between the 
FILOT Payments theretofore actually paid and the amount which would have been paid as ad 
valorem taxes, together with interest on such deficiency as provided in Section 12-54-25(D) of 
the Code (a “Deficiency Payment”). 

(f) 

(i) In the event that the investment in the Project is insufficient to satisfy the 
Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement, and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-130 
and Section 12-44-30(19) of the FILOT Act, then all FILOT Payments shall revert retroactively 
to ad valorem taxes calculated as set forth in paragraph (e) above, and a Deficiency Payment 
shall be due and payable from each such owing entity with respect to FILOT Payments 
theretofore made.  To the extent necessary to collect a Deficiency Payment under this clause (i) 
due to failure to satisfy the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement, Section 12-44-140(D) 
of the Code provides that any statute of limitations that might apply pursuant to Section 12-54-85 
of the Code is suspended. 



    
 

  
   
 

 

   
 

   
   

 

    
  

     

     

  
 

    
 

 

   
    

  
  

 
   

   
    

 
 
 

  
  

 

   
 

   
  

  
  

  
 
 

   

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 19 of 29 

(ii) In the event that investment in the Project based on an income tax basis 
without regard to depreciation satisfies the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement, but 
following the Investment Period falls below the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement, 
without regard to depreciation, the Project shall thereafter be subject to ad valorem taxes 
calculated as set forth in paragraph (e) above. 

(iii) In the event the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement is satisfied 
but the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement is not satisfied by the end of the 
Investment Period, this Agreement is terminated effective at the end of Investment Period except 
for those matters intended to survive termination. 

(iv) In accordance with the provisions of Sections 4.02(b) and 6.02 hereof, the 
fair market value of all property utilized by the Company and any other Co-Investor, as the case 
may be, at the Project site, whether owned outright by the Company or any other Co-Investor or 
utilized by the Company or any other Co-Investor pursuant to any financing agreement or any 
lease or other arrangement with any Co-Investor and whether or not subject to this Agreement, 
shall be counted toward all investment obligations under this Agreement, including, to the extent 
permitted by law, investment obligations under the FILOT Act. 

(g) Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement or as otherwise required by the 
FILOT Act, any amounts due to the County under this Section 5.01 as a Deficiency Payment or 
other retroactive payment shall be paid within ninety (90) days following receipt by the owing 
Company or other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, of notice from the County 
that such a Deficiency Payment or other retroactive payment is due from such entity and shall be 
collected and enforced in accordance with Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Act.  

(h) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company 
acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide for FILOT Payments ends, and this 
Agreement is terminated, if the Land and building in which the Project is located is applied to a 
use other than a use which qualifies for the incentives available under the FILOT Act.  The 
provisions of subsection (f) relating to retroactive payments apply if this Agreement is 
terminated in accordance with this subsection (h) prior to the end of the Investment Period and 
before the Company has achieved the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement.  The 
Company agrees that if this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this subsection (h), that under 
no circumstance shall the County be required to refund or pay any monies to the Company. 

(i) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company 
acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide the FILOT incentive ends, and this 
Agreement is terminated, if the Company ceases operations.  For purposes of this Section 
5.01(i), “cease operations” means a permanent end of the Company’s operations.  Company 
agrees that if this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Section 5.01(i), that under no 
circumstance shall the County be required to refund or pay any monies to the Company.  

Section 5.02. Statutory Lien.  The parties acknowledge the County’s right to receive 
FILOT Payments hereunder constitutes a statutory lien with respect to the FILOT Property 
pursuant to Section 12-44-90(E) of the Code and Title 12, Chapter 54 of the Code relating to the 
collection and enforcement of ad valorem property taxes. 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 20 of 29 

END OF ARTICLE V 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 

 
 

  
    

  
    

 
  

 
 

  
  

 
 

    
  

 

  
 

    
  

   
 
 

  
  
   

   
  

   
    

   
   

  
  

  
 

 

  
 

   

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 21 of 29 

ARTICLE VI 

THIRD PARTY ARRANGEMENTS 
Section 6.01. Conveyance of Liens and Interests; Assignment.  The Company and 

each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate may at any time (a) transfer all or any of its rights and 
interests hereunder or with respect to all or any part of the FILOT Property to any Person; or (b) 
enter into any lending, financing, leasing, security, or similar arrangement or succession of such 
arrangements with any financing entity or other Person with respect to this Agreement or all or 
any part of the FILOT Property, including without limitation any sale-leaseback, equipment 
lease, build-to-suit lease, synthetic lease, nordic lease, defeased tax benefit or transfer lease, 
assignment, sublease or similar arrangement or succession of such arrangements, regardless of 
the identity of the income tax owner of such portion of the FILOT Property, whereby the 
transferee in any such arrangement leases a portion of the FILOT Property in question to the 
Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate or any Affiliates of the Company or such 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate or operates such assets for the Company or any other Sponsor 
or Sponsor Affiliate or any of their respective Affiliates or is leasing such portion of the FILOT 
Property in question from the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate or any of their 
respective Affiliates.  In order to preserve the benefits of the FILOT hereunder with respect to 
property so transferred: (i) except in connection with any transfer to another Sponsor or Sponsor 
Affiliate or an Affiliate of the Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate or transfers 
pursuant to clause (b) above (as to which such transfers the County hereby consents), the 
Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall obtain the prior consent or subsequent 
ratification of the County which consent or subsequent ratification may be granted by the 
County, in its sole discretion; (ii) except when a financing entity which is the income tax owner 
of all or part of the FILOT Property is the transferee pursuant to clause (b) above and such 
financing entity assumes in writing the obligations of the Company or such other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate hereunder, or when the County consents in writing or when the transfer relates 
to Released Property pursuant to Section 4.02(e) hereof, no such transfer shall affect or reduce 
any of the obligations of the Company or such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate hereunder; (iii) to 
the extent the transferee or financing entity shall become obligated to make FILOT payments 
hereunder, the transferee shall assume the then current basis of the Company or other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate (or prior transferee) in the FILOT Property transferred; (iv) the Company or 
such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, transferee or financing entity shall, within sixty (60) 
days thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished to the County and the Department of Revenue 
notification of any such transfer; and (v) the Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 
and the transferee shall comply with all other requirements of the Transfer Provisions.  

Subject to County consent or ratification when required under this Section 6.01, and at 
the expense of the Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, the County agrees to 
take such further action and execute such further agreements, documents, and instruments as 
may be reasonably required to effectuate the assumption by any such transferee of all or part of 
the rights of the Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate under this Agreement 
and/or any release of the Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to this 
Section 6.01. 

The Company acknowledges such a transfer of an interest under this Agreement or in the 



    
 

  
   
 

 

  
 

 

     

 
  

 
  

  
   

  
  

 
    
   

   
    

    
 

 

 

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 22 of 29 

FILOT Property may cause all or part of the FILOT Property to become ineligible for a FILOT 
or result in penalties under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the Company with the Transfer 
Provisions.  

Section 6.02. Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates. The Company may designate from 
time to time other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the provisions of Sections 12-44-
30(19) or (20), respectively, and Section 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act, which Sponsors or 
Sponsor Affiliates shall be Persons who join with the Company and make investments with 
respect to the Project, or who participate in the financing of such investments, who agree to be 
bound by the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and who shall be Affiliates of the 
Company or other Persons described in Section 6.01, clause (b) hereof.  All other Sponsors or 
Sponsor Affiliates who otherwise meet the requirements of Section 12-44-30(19) or (20) and 
Section 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act must be approved by resolution of the County Council. 
Subject to the provisions of Sections 12-44-130 and 12-44-30(19) of the FILOT Act, to the 
extent that a Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate invests an amount equal to the Minimum Statutory 
Investment Requirement at the Project prior to the end of the Investment Period the investment 
by such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall qualify for the FILOT payable under Section 5.01 
hereof (subject to the other conditions set forth therein).  The Company shall provide the County 
and the Department of Revenue with written notice of any Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 
designated pursuant to this Section 6.02 within ninety (90) days after the end of the calendar 
year during which any such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate has placed in service assets to be used 
in connection with the Project, all in accordance with Section 12-44-130(B) of the FILOT Act. 

END OF ARTICLE VI 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
 

 

     
  

 
 

    
 
 

   
   

 
   

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 23 of 29 

ARTICLE VII 

TERM; TERMINATION 

Section 7.01. Term. Unless sooner terminated pursuant to the terms and provisions 
herein contained, this Agreement shall be and remain in full force and effect for a term 
commencing on the date upon which the County approved this Agreement, and ending at 
midnight on the day the last FILOT Payment is made hereunder. 

Section 7.02. Termination.  The County and the Company may mutually agree to 
terminate this Agreement at any time.  The Company may, at its sole option, terminate this 
Agreement at any time with respect to all, or a portion of, its respective portion of the Project, in 
which event such portion of the Project shall be subject to ad valorem taxes, from the date of 
termination.  The rights of the County to receive payment for any retroactive ad valorem taxes, 
Deficiency Payments, interest or penalties, and the enforcement rights with respect to such 
obligations shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

END OF ARTICLE VII 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 

 
 

 

   
  

 
 

   

 

  
   
   

    
 

   
   

  
 

   
 

     
   

     
  

  
 

    
 

    
 

   
  

  

    
    

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 24 of 29 

ARTICLE VIII 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 8.01. Events of Default.  Any one or more of the following events (herein called 
an “Event of Default”, or collectively “Events of Default”) shall constitute an Event of Default 
by the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate (the “Defaulting Entity”) but only 
with respect to such Defaulting Entity’s rights, duties, and obligations contained herein: 

(a) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of any FILOT Payments, 
which default shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt of written 
notice of such default from the County; or 

(b) if default shall be made in the due performance of or compliance with any of the 
terms hereof, other than those referred to in the foregoing paragraph (a), and such default shall 
continue for ninety (90) days after the County shall have given the Defaulting Entity written 
notice of such default; provided, the County may, in its discretion, grant the Defaulting Entity a 
longer period of time as necessary to cure such default if the Defaulting Entity proceeds with due 
diligence to cure such default; provided however, that no Event of Default shall exist under this 
Agreement during any period when there is pending, before any judicial or administrative 
tribunal having jurisdiction, any proceeding in which the Defaulting Entity has contested in good 
faith the occurrence of such default. 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, failure to meet any investment requirement set 
forth herein shall not be deemed to be an Event of Default under this Agreement. 

Section 8.02. Remedies on Event of Default. Upon the occurrence of any Event of 
Default, the County may exercise any of the following remedies only as to the Defaulting Entity: 

(a) terminate this Agreement by delivery of written notice to the Defaulting Entity 
not less than sixty (60) days prior to the termination date specified therein; 

(b) have access to and inspect, examine, and make copies of the books and records 
and accounts of the Defaulting Entity pertaining to the construction, acquisition, or maintenance 
of the Project or calculation of the FILOT required to be paid by the Defaulting Entity pursuant 
hereto as provided in Section 4.06 hereof; or 

(c) take whatever action at law or in equity as may appear necessary or desirable to 
collect the amount then due or enforce the County’s rights hereunder, it being the express intent 
of the parties that the County, without limitation, shall have the same remedies available by law 
to collect FILOT payments as if they were delinquent ad valorem tax payments, including 
execution upon the lien referred to in Section 5.02 hereof. 

Section 8.03. Defaulted Payments. In the event the Company or any other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate should fail to make any of the payments required by such entity under this 
Agreement, the item or installment so in default shall continue as an obligation of such entity 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
  

    
   

 

    
  

    
    

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 25 of 29 

until the amount in default shall have been fully paid.  If any such default relates to its 
obligations to make FILOT Payments hereunder, such entity shall pay the same with interest 
thereon at the rate per annum provided by the Code for late payment of ad valorem taxes 
together with any penalties provided by the Code for late payment of ad valorem taxes, all as 
provided in Section 12-44-90 of the Code. 

Section 8.04. Default by County. Upon the default of the County in the performance 
of any of its obligations hereunder, each of the Company or any other Co-Investor may take 
whatever action at law or in equity as may appear necessary or desirable to enforce its rights 
under this Agreement, including without limitation a suit for mandamus or specific performance. 

END OF ARTICLE VIII 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 

 
 

 

   
 

   
 

   
 

  
   

 

   
  

   
    

    
  

  
    

  
 

   
   

   
     

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 26 of 29 

ARTICLE IX 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.01. Rights and Remedies Cumulative.  Each right, power, and remedy of 
the County or of the Company or any other Co-Investor provided for in this Agreement shall be 
cumulative and concurrent and shall be in addition to every other right, power, or remedy 
provided for in this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity, in any 
jurisdiction where such rights, powers, and remedies are sought to be enforced; and the exercise 
by the County or by the Company or any other Co-Investor of any one or more of the rights, 
powers, or remedies provided for in this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in 
equity or by statute or otherwise shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by the 
County or by the Company or any other Co-Investor of any or all such other rights, powers, or 
remedies. 

Section 9.02. Successors and Assigns.  The terms and provisions of this Agreement 
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, each Co-Investor designated 
pursuant to Section 6.02 hereof and their respective successors and assigns as permitted 
hereunder.  Except as otherwise set forth in Sections 6.01 or 6.02 hereof, with the prior written 
consent of the County or a subsequent written ratification by the County, unless Section 12-44-
120 of the FILOT Act or any successor provision expressly does not require consent, and in 
accordance with the FILOT Act, the Company may assign its respective interest in this 
Agreement in whole or in part.  No approval is required for transfers to Sponsor Affiliates or 
other financing related transfers, as defined in the FILOT Act. 

Section 9.03. Notices; Demands; Requests.  Any notice, election, demand, request or 
other communication to be provided under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be 
effective (i) when delivered to the party named below, (ii) when deposited with the United States 
Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (iii) when deposited in 
any reputable national “next day” delivery service, addressed as follows (or addressed to such 
other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), except 
where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such 
provision shall control: 

(a)  As to the County: 

Horry County 
Attn:  County Administrator 
1301 Second Avenue 
Conway, South Carolina 29526 

       with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 

Horry County 
Attn:  County Attorney 
1301 Second Avenue 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
         

    
  

  

     
 

  
 

 

     
   

  

     
     

 
 

 

    
 

 

   
    

   

        
 

    
    

   

 

  

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 27 of 29 

Conway, South Carolina 29526 

 (b)  As to the Company: 

PROJECT FREE 

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 

Section 9.04. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed 
in accordance with the laws of the State.  To the extent of any conflict between the provisions of 
this Agreement and the FILOT Act, the FILOT Act controls. 

Section 9.05. Entire Understanding. This Agreement expresses the entire 
understanding and all agreements of the parties hereto with each other, and neither party hereto 
has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any representation to the other party which is 
not expressly set forth in this Agreement or in certificates delivered in connection with the 
execution and delivery hereof. 

Section 9.06. Severability. In the event that any clause or provision of this 
Agreement shall be held to be invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of 
such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions hereof. 

Section 9.07. Headings and Table of Contents; References. The headings of the 
Agreement and any Table of Contents annexed hereto are for convenience of reference only and 
shall not define or limit the provisions hereof or affect the meaning or interpretation hereof.  All 
references in this Agreement to particular articles or sections or paragraphs of this Agreement are 
references to the designated articles or sections or paragraphs of this Agreement. 

Section 9.08. Multiple Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

Section 9.09. Amendments. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 12-44-
40(K)(2) of the FILOT Act, this Agreement may be amended, and the rights and interest of the 
parties hereunder surrendered, only by a writing signed by all parties. 

Section 9.10. Waiver. Any party may waive compliance by any other party with any 
term or condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 9.11. Further Proceedings. To the extent additional proceedings are required 
by law, the County agrees to undertake all such additional proceedings as may be reasonably 
required or appropriate to effectuate the intent of this Agreement. 

END OF ARTICLE IX 

SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE. 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 28 of 29 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, each after due authorization, have executed 
this Agreement to be effective as of the date first written above. 

HORRY COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By: ____________________________________________ 
Johnny Gardner, Chairman, County Council 

[SEAL] 

Attest: 

By: ________________________________________ 
Patricia S. Hartley, Clerk to Council 



    
 

  
   
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Fee Agreement – Draft September 9, 2022 
Horry County, South Carolina, and Project Free 

Page 29 of 29 

PROJECT FREE, 
a South Carolina _____________________ 

By: _________________________________ 

Printed Name: ________________________ 

Title:  _______________________________ 



 

 

 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
LAND DESCRIPTION 

To be provided. 

48974296 v1 










































	Nov 15 Agenda
	Minutes
	Ord 119-121
	Ord 122-125
	Ord 126
	Ord 127-128
	Ord 129-130
	Ord 133
	CBF
	Res 132-133
	Ord 131-2022
	9#_48974296_v_1_Free -- Fee Agreement.pdf
	ARTICLE I   DEFINITIONS
	Section 1.01. Definitions.  In addition to the words and terms elsewhere defined in this Agreement, the following words and terms as used herein and in the preambles hereto shall have the following meanings unless the context or use indicates another ...
	Section 1.02. References to Agreement.  The words “hereof”, “herein”, “hereunder”, and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole.

	ARTICLE II   REPRESENTATIONS
	Section 2.01. Representations by County.  The County represents that (i) it is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State, (ii) it is authorized by the Act to enter into this Agreement, (iii) it has approved this Agreement i...
	Section 2.02. Representations by Company.  The Company makes the following representations as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained:
	(a) The Company is a _________________ organized and existing and in good standing under the laws of South Carolina and authorized to do business in the State; has all requisite power to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereu...
	(b) The Company presently intends to operate, or cause operation of, the Project as ____________________________.
	(c) The agreements with the County with respect to the FILOT Payments, as set forth herein, were factors in inducing the Company to locate the Project within the County and the State.


	ARTICLE III    COVENANTS OF COUNTY
	Section 3.01. Agreement to Accept FILOT Payments.  The County agrees to accept FILOT Payments in accordance with Section 5.01 hereof in lieu of ad valorem taxes with respect to that portion of the Project consisting of FILOT Property until this Agreem...
	Section 3.02. Commensurate Benefits.  The parties acknowledge the intent of this Agreement, in part, is to afford the Company and each other Co-Investor the benefits specified in this Article III in consideration of the Company’s decision to locate th...
	Section 3.03.  Multi-County Park Designation.  The County agrees to take action to place the Project, including, but not limited to, the Land in the Multi-County Park, if not already located in the Multi-County Park, and agrees to use its best efforts...

	ARTICLE IV   COVENANTS OF COMPANY
	Section 4.01.  Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement.  The Company agrees that it will comply with, or cause compliance with, the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement.
	Section 4.02. Investment in Project.
	(a) The Company hereby agrees to acquire, equip, or construct, or cause to be acquired, equipped, or constructed, the Project, as the same shall be determined from time to time by the Company, in its sole discretion.  As required by Section 12-44-30(2...
	(b) Expenditures by Co-Investors shall, together with expenditures by the Company, count toward all investment requirements set forth in this Agreement, including the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement and, to the full extent permitted by the ...
	(c) The County agrees that if the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement is satisfied, the Investment Period may be extended as set forth in this agreement.
	(d) The Company and/or its designated Co-Investors shall retain title to, or other property rights in, its respective portion of the Project throughout the Term of this Agreement, and the Company and each other Co-Investor shall have full right to lea...
	(e) The Company and each other Co-Investor shall have the right at any time and from time to time during the Term hereof to undertake any of the following:
	(i) The Company and each other Co-Investor may, at its own expense, add to the Project real and personal property as the Company or such Co-Investor, as the case may be, in its discretion deems useful or desirable, including FILOT Property qualifying ...
	(ii) Subject to the provisions of Section 5.01(f)(ii) hereof, in any instance when the Company or any other Co-Investor in its discretion determines any items included in the Project, including any FILOT Property and any portion of the Land, have beco...
	(iii) The Company and each other Co-Investor may, at any time and in its discretion by written notice to the County, remove any FILOT Property, real or personal, from the FILOT arrangement set forth in this Agreement and retain such property for use a...
	(iv) If the Company or any other Co-Investor sells, leases, or otherwise disposes of any portion of the Land, the Company or such other Co-Investor shall deliver to the County, a revised Exhibit A to this Agreement or supplements to Exhibit A and such...
	(v) All FILOT Property sold, leased or otherwise disposed of under this Section 4.02(e) shall be deemed Released Property for purposes of this Agreement.


	Section 4.03. Payment of Administration Expenses.  The Company will reimburse, or cause reimbursement of, the County from time to time for its Administration Expenses promptly upon written request therefor, but in no event later than sixty (60) days a...
	Section 4.04. Use of Project for Lawful Activities.  During the Term of this Agreement, the Company and any other Co-Investor shall use the Project as it deems fit for any lawful purpose.
	Section 4.05. Maintenance of Existence.  Except in the event the resulting, surviving or transferee entity is the Company, an Affiliate of the Company, or a company with which the Company shares common management, as to which such consolidation, merge...
	(a) the Company shall be the continuing business entity, or the business entity formed by such consolidation, or into which the Company is merged, or the entity which acquires by conveyance or transfer all or substantially all of the Company’s assets,...
	(b) immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of Default, and no event, which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event of Default, shall have happened and be continuing; and
	(c) the Company shall have delivered to the County (i) a certificate of a duly authorized officer of the Company accompanied by financial statements of the surviving company (if other than the Company) showing compliance with the net worth requirement...

	Section 4.06. Records and Reports.
	(A) The Company and each other Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliate will maintain, or cause to be maintained, such books and records as will permit (i) the identification of those portions of the Project which it places in service in each Property Tax Year d...
	(1)  Upon direction of the governing body of the County, a County Official may request and obtain such financial books and records from the Company and any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate that support the FILOT returns of such Sponsor or Sponsor Af...
	(2)  Each year during the Term hereof, the Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall deliver to the County Auditor, the County Assessor, and the County Treasurer a copy of its most recent annual filings made with the Department of Reve...
	(3)  The Company shall cause a copy of this Agreement, as well as a copy of the completed Form PT-443 required by the Department of Revenue, to be filed within thirty (30) days after the date of execution and delivery hereof with the County Auditor, t...
	(a) Except as provided in subsection (e) below, the Company shall, and agrees to, indemnify and save the County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless against and from all liability or claims ari...
	(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that an Indemnified Party shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Agreement, or the undertakings required of an Indemnified Party hereunder, or by reason o...
	(c) Each Indemnified Party is entitled to defend itself in any action or proceeding and may use counsel of its choice and the Company shall reimburse the Indemnified Party for all of the Indemnified Party’s costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees,...
	(d) An Indemnified Party may request the Company to resist or defend against any claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party.  On such request, the Company shall resist or defend against such claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party, at the Company’s exp...
	(e) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company is not required to indemnify, save harmless, or resist or defend any claim against any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs arising from any claim or liability (i)...
	(f) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs provided unless it provides the Company with prompt notice, reasonable under the circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, includ...


	ARTICLE V   FEES IN LIEU OF TAXES
	Section 5.01. Payment of Fees in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes.
	(a) In accordance with the FILOT Act, the parties hereby agree, that during the Term hereof, there shall be due annually with respect to that portion of the Project constituting FILOT Property, whether owned by the Company or by any other Sponsor or S...
	(b) Subject to adjustment pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5.01, the FILOT shall be calculated each year in accordance with the following provisions:
	(i) For each annual increment of investment in FILOT Property, the FILOT Payments shall be payable for a period of twenty (20) years, except as may be altered pursuant to Section 5.01(f)(iii); provided, that the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor...
	(ii) The FILOT shall be calculated using:
	(1) a fixed assessment ratio of 6%;
	(2) a millage rate of 212.7, fixed for the Term of this Agreement;
	(3) the fair market value of the FILOT Property, determined in accordance with the FILOT Act, typically by using the original income tax basis without regard to depreciation or reassessment for any real property, but with regard to any ordinary obsol...
	(iii) All such calculations shall take into account all deductions for depreciation or diminution in value allowed by the Code or by the tax laws generally, and those tax exemptions which would have been applicable if such property were subject to ad ...
	(iv) For purposes of calculating the FILOT, the FILOT Property shall not include any Released Property or Non-Qualifying Property.

	(c) The FILOT Payments are to be recalculated:
	(i) to reduce such payments in the event the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate disposes of any part of the FILOT Property within the meaning of Section 12-44-50(B) of the FILOT Act and as provided in Section 4.02(e)(ii) hereof, by the ...
	(ii) to reduce such payments in the event that the FILOT Property or any portion thereof is damaged or destroyed, lost or stolen, or the subject of condemnation proceedings, or otherwise removed from the Project as a result of circumstances beyond the...
	(iii) to increase such payments in the event the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate adds any FILOT Property (other than Replacement Property) to the Project; or
	(iv) to adjust such payments if the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate elects to convert any portion of the FILOT Property from the FILOT to ad valorem taxes, as permitted by Section 4.02(e)(iii).

	(d) Upon installation or placing in service by the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate of any Replacement Property for any Released Property, such Replacement Property shall become subject to FILOT Payments to the fullest extent allowed ...
	(i) Such Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as the Released Property it is replacing.  Replacement Property is deemed to replace the oldest property subject to the FILOT, whether real or personal, which is disposed of in the...
	(ii) The Company and any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, records sufficient to identify all Replacement Property it places in service, and the FILOT Payments with respect thereto shall be calculated using ...

	(e) In the event that, for any reason, the FILOT Act and/or the FILOT or any portion thereof is, by a court of competent jurisdiction following allowable appeals, declared invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part, or the portion of the Project con...
	(f)
	(i) In the event that the investment in the Project is insufficient to satisfy the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement, and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-130 and Section 12-44-30(19) of the FILOT Act, then all FILOT Payments shall re...
	(ii) In the event that investment in the Project based on an income tax basis without regard to depreciation satisfies the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement, but following the Investment Period falls below the Minimum Statutory Investment Requi...
	(iii) In the event the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement is satisfied but the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement is not satisfied by the end of the Investment Period, this Agreement is terminated effective at the end of Investment Perio...
	(iv) In accordance with the provisions of Sections 4.02(b) and 6.02 hereof, the fair market value of all property utilized by the Company and any other Co-Investor, as the case may be, at the Project site, whether owned outright by the Company or any ...

	(g) Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement or as otherwise required by the FILOT Act, any amounts due to the County under this Section 5.01 as a Deficiency Payment or other retroactive payment shall be paid within ninety (90) days following r...
	(h) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide for FILOT Payments ends, and this Agreement is terminated, if the Land and building in which the Project is located is a...
	(i) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide the FILOT incentive ends, and this Agreement is terminated, if the Company ceases operations.  For purposes of this Sect...

	Section 5.02. Statutory Lien.  The parties acknowledge the County’s right to receive FILOT Payments hereunder constitutes a statutory lien with respect to the FILOT Property pursuant to Section 12-44-90(E) of the Code and Title 12, Chapter 54 of the C...

	ARTICLE VI   THIRD PARTY ARRANGEMENTS
	Section 6.01. Conveyance of Liens and Interests; Assignment.  The Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate may at any time (a) transfer all or any of its rights and interests hereunder or with respect to all or any part of the FILOT Propert...
	Section 6.02. Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates.  The Company may designate from time to time other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the provisions of Sections 12-44-30(19) or (20), respectively, and Section 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act, which S...

	ARTICLE VII    TERM; TERMINATION
	Section 7.01. Term.  Unless sooner terminated pursuant to the terms and provisions herein contained, this Agreement shall be and remain in full force and effect for a term commencing on the date upon which the County approved this Agreement, and endin...
	Section 7.02. Termination.  The County and the Company may mutually agree to terminate this Agreement at any time.  The Company may, at its sole option, terminate this Agreement at any time with respect to all, or a portion of, its respective portion ...

	ARTICLE VIII   EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
	Section 8.01. Events of Default.  Any one or more of the following events (herein called an “Event of Default”, or collectively “Events of Default”) shall constitute an Event of Default by the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate (the “De...
	(a) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of any FILOT Payments, which default shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt of written notice of such default from the County; or
	(b) if default shall be made in the due performance of or compliance with any of the terms hereof, other than those referred to in the foregoing paragraph (a), and such default shall continue for ninety (90) days after the County shall have given the ...

	Section 8.02. Remedies on Event of Default.  Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the County may exercise any of the following remedies only as to the Defaulting Entity:
	(a) terminate this Agreement by delivery of written notice to the Defaulting Entity not less than sixty (60) days prior to the termination date specified therein;
	(b) have access to and inspect, examine, and make copies of the books and records and accounts of the Defaulting Entity pertaining to the construction, acquisition, or maintenance of the Project or calculation of the FILOT required to be paid by the D...
	(c) take whatever action at law or in equity as may appear necessary or desirable to collect the amount then due or enforce the County’s rights hereunder, it being the express intent of the parties that the County, without limitation, shall have the s...

	Section 8.03. Defaulted Payments.  In the event the Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate should fail to make any of the payments required by such entity under this Agreement, the item or installment so in default shall continue as an obli...
	Section 8.04. Default by County.  Upon the default of the County in the performance of any of its obligations hereunder, each of the Company or any other Co-Investor may take whatever action at law or in equity as may appear necessary or desirable to ...

	ARTICLE IX   MISCELLANEOUS
	Section 9.01. Rights and Remedies Cumulative.  Each right, power, and remedy of the County or of the Company or any other Co-Investor provided for in this Agreement shall be cumulative and concurrent and shall be in addition to every other right, powe...
	Section 9.02. Successors and Assigns.  The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, each Co-Investor designated pursuant to Section 6.02 hereof and their respective successors and ass...
	Section 9.03. Notices; Demands; Requests.  Any notice, election, demand, request or other communication to be provided under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective (i) when delivered to the party named below, (ii) when deposited wit...
	Section 9.04. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State.  To the extent of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and the FILOT Act, the FILOT Act controls.
	Section 9.05. Entire Understanding.  This Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all agreements of the parties hereto with each other, and neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any representation to the other pa...
	Section 9.06. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions he...
	Section 9.07. Headings and Table of Contents; References.  The headings of the Agreement and any Table of Contents annexed hereto are for convenience of reference only and shall not define or limit the provisions hereof or affect the meaning or interp...
	Section 9.08. Multiple Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.
	Section 9.09. Amendments.  Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 12-44-40(K)(2) of the FILOT Act, this Agreement may be amended, and the rights and interest of the parties hereunder surrendered, only by a writing signed by all parties.
	Section 9.10. Waiver.  Any party may waive compliance by any other party with any term or condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party.
	Section 9.11. Further Proceedings.  To the extent additional proceedings are required by law, the County agrees to undertake all such additional proceedings as may be reasonably required or appropriate to effectuate the intent of this Agreement.



	Res 134-136



